# A Lie algebraic generalization of the Mumford system, its symmetries and its multi-Hamiltonian structure

Marco Pedroni<sup>1</sup> and Pol Vanhaecke<sup>2,3</sup>

#### Abstract

In this paper we generalize the Mumford system which describes for any fixed g all linear flows on all hyperelliptic Jacobians of dimension g. The phase space of the Mumford system consists of triples of polynomials, subject to certain degree constraints, and is naturally seen as an affine subspace of the loop algebra of  $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ . In our generalizations to an arbitrary simple Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  the phase space consists of dim  $\mathfrak{g}$  polynomials, again subject to certain degree constraints. This phase space and its multi-Hamiltonian structure is obtained by a Poisson reduction along a subvariety N of the loop algebra  $\mathfrak{g}((\lambda^{-1}))$  of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . Since N is not a Poisson subvariety for the whole multi-Hamiltonian structure we prove an (algebraic) Poisson reduction theorem for reduction along arbitrary subvarieties of an affine Poisson variety; this theorem is similar in spirit to the Marsden-Ratiu reduction theorem.

We also give a different perspective on the multi-Hamiltonian structure of the Mumford system (and its generalizations) by introducing a master symmetry; this master symmetry can be described on the loop algebra  $\mathfrak{g}((\lambda^{-1}))$  as the derivative in the direction of  $\lambda$  and is shown to survive the Poisson reduction. When acting (as a Lie derivative) on one of the Poisson structures of the system it produces a next one, similarly when acting on one of the Hamiltonians (in involution) or their (commuting) vector fields it produces a next one. In this way we arrive at several multi-Hamiltonian hierarchies, built up by a master symmetry.

#### Mathematics Subject Classification (1991): 58F07, 17B81.

**Key words:** Mumford system, simple Lie algebras, multi-Hamiltonian structures, Poisson reduction, master symmetry.

- <sup>1</sup> Università di Genova, Dipartimento di Matematica, Via Dodecaneso 35, I-16146 Genova, Italy (pedroni@dima.unige.it)
- <sup>2</sup> University of California, 1015 Department of Mathematics, Davis CA 95616-8633, USA (Vanhaeck@math.ucdavis.edu)
- <sup>3</sup> Université des Sciences et Technologies de Lille, U.F.R. de Mathématiques, 59655 Villeneuve d'Ascq Cedex, France

# Table of contents

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Multi-Hamiltonian hierarchies and master symmetries on loop algebras
  - 2.1 The loop algebra  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}} = \mathfrak{g}((\lambda^{-1}))$  and its Poisson brackets
  - $2.2\,$  Master symmetries and the deformation property
- 3 Poisson reduction and reduction of symmetries
- 4 Reduction for simple Lie algebras
  - 4.1 Poisson reduction
  - 4.2 Reduction of the master symmetry
  - 4.3 The reduced space  $N/G_\beta^-$  as a linear subspace  $N_0 \subset N$
- 5 Examples
  - 5.1 The Mumford system
  - $5.2 A_r$
  - 5.3  $B_r$  and  $C_r$
  - $5.4 D_r$
  - $5.5 G_2$

# 1. Introduction

In its original form the Mumford system consists, for every positive integer g, of a family of vector fields on an affine space (of dimension 3g + 1) of triples of polynomials  $(U(\lambda), V(\lambda), W(\lambda))$  (see [Mum] p. 3.43). The simplest member of this family has the form

$$\dot{U}(\lambda) = V(\lambda),$$
  

$$\dot{V}(\lambda) = \frac{1}{2} [-W(\lambda) + (\lambda - U_{g-1} + W_g)U(\lambda)],$$
  

$$\dot{W}(\lambda) = -(\lambda - U_{g-1} + W_g)V(\lambda).$$
(1.1)

The three polynomials are subject to the restrictions that U and W are monic of degrees g and g + 1, while V has degree less than g.  $U_i$  is the coefficient of  $\lambda^i$  in  $U(\lambda)$  and similarly for V and W. A simple computation shows that

$$(U(\lambda)W(\lambda) + V^2(\lambda))^{\cdot} = 0$$

for the above vector field, and similarly for the other members of the family. It follows that if one associates an algebraic curve (of genus g) to every point  $(U(\lambda), V(\lambda), W(\lambda))$  of phase space by the equation

$$\mu^2 = U(\lambda)W(\lambda) + V^2(\lambda), \qquad (1.2)$$

then this curve is invariant under the flow of these vector fields. This property is "explained" by Mumford who shows that the generic orbit, traced out by the flow of these vector fields, is an affine part of the Jacobian of the curve (1.2) associated to any of its points  $(U(\lambda), V(\lambda), W(\lambda))$  and that the flows of these vector fields are linear (the Jacobian of a curve is a complex torus, hence has a linear structure). Note that this implies automatically that these vector fields commute, a property reminiscent of integrable systems. Upon introducing a Hamiltonian structure for which Mumford's vector fields are Hamiltonian it turns out that the Mumford system is indeed an example of an integrable system (such a Hamiltonian structure was however only introduced later).

It turns out that the Mumford system and some of its generalizations appear in many different contexts, although sometimes in a disguised form and often without reference to its Hamiltonian structure. It appears in the description of rings of commuting differential operators, going back to the early papers of Burchnall and Chaundy (see [BC] or [Pre]; for a different but equivalent description see [Sch]), it is a limit of the classical Schlesinger equations which describe isomonodromy deformation (see [Gar]), many classical integrable systems are isomorphic to a subsystem of the Mumford system, sometimes up to a cover (see [Van3]) and the Mumford system appears as the simplest of a large class of integrable systems on the moduli space of Higgs bundles on a Riemann surface, the latter being in this case just the Riemann sphere (see [DM]).

The purpose of this paper is to combine the ideas in [MM], [MR], [RS3] and [Sch] to generalize the Mumford system and to describe the symmetries and the multi-Hamiltonian structure of its generalizations. Let us describe these ideas.

(1) The main idea from [RS3], which is recalled in Section 2.1, is that the loop algebra  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}} = \mathfrak{g}((\lambda^{-1}))$  of any semi-simple Lie algebra has a (multi-) Hamiltonian structure which restricts to the finite-dimensional spaces  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^\beta$  of polynomials with leading term  $\beta\lambda^n$ , where  $\beta \in \mathfrak{g}$ . A natural class of functions in involution leads, in many cases, to an integrable system on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^\beta/G_\beta$  where  $G_\beta$  is the isotropy group of  $\beta$ . We will show that for well-chosen  $\beta$  a Poisson reduction on an affine subspace N of  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^\beta$  with respect to a subgroup  $G_\beta^-$  of  $G_\beta$  will lead to the generalization of the Mumford system:

while  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^{\beta}/G_{\beta}$  is never an affine space the quotient which we describe will be a space of (dim  $\mathfrak{g}$ )-tuples of polynomials with degree constraints, precisely as in the case of the Mumford system.

(2) The multi-Hamiltonian structure on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^{\beta}$ , which is given as a family of compatible Poisson brackets, does not restrict to any subvariety of  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^{\beta}$  (although some brackets do). Therefore we prove a general (algebraic) Poisson reduction theorem which is similar in spirit to the Marsden-Ratiu reduction theorem (see [MR]). In our theorem we consider a subvariety N of a Poisson variety M on which an affine Poisson group G acts (leaving N invariant). Assuming that the action is Poisson we give a necessary and sufficient condition for the Poisson structure on M to descend to a Poisson structure on N/G. The reduction theorem will be proven in Section 3.

(3) The next question then, which turns out to be Lie-algebraic in nature, is how to pick the subspace N and the group  $G_{\beta}^{-}$  such that the quotient is an affine space which can be naturally identified with a subspace of N. If we pick in the case of  $\mathfrak{sl}(r+1)$  the leading coefficient  $\beta$  to be a generic lower triangular matrix, then our condition for Poisson reducibility implies that we can only reduce along the hyperplane  $N \subset \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^{\beta}$  which is obtained by fixing one of the entries (the entry at position (1, r+1)) of the coefficient of  $\lambda^{n-1}$ . In this case the quotient  $N/G_{\beta}$  is an affine space if and only if this entry has been fixed to a value different from 0. Notice that in this case  $\alpha + \beta$  is regular, where

$$\alpha = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \dots & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The precise Lie-algebraic condition imposed on  $\beta$  is that it is a principal nilpotent element; since all principal nilpotent elements of a simple Lie algebra are conjugate we may take  $\beta$  to be given by  $\beta = \sum_{i=1}^{r} F_i$ , where  $\{H_i, E_i, F_i\}_{i=1,...,r}$  is a Weyl basis of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . Then the condition which defines  $N \subset \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^{\beta}$  is that its elements  $\beta\lambda^n + \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} x_i\lambda^i$  satisfy  $\prod_k x_{n-1} = \alpha$ ;  $\alpha$  is any non-zero top-element in the gradation  $\bigoplus_{i=-k}^{k} \mathfrak{g}_i$  of  $\mathfrak{g}$ , which is associated to the Weyl basis, i.e.,  $0 \neq \alpha \in \mathfrak{g}_k$  and  $\prod_k$  is the projection onto  $\mathfrak{g}_k$ . This leads to the proper Lie algebraic setup for a first generalization of the Mumford system to any simple Lie algebra. Indeed, if we define  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and n in the above way for an arbitrary simple Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  then the whole multi-Hamiltonian hierarchy of Poisson structures and the algebra of functions in involution descend to the quotient which is naturally identified with an affine subspace  $N_0$  of  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^{\beta}$ . Notice that the group by which we reduce is in this case the full group  $G_{\beta}$ , which is Abelian, and that the action is Hamiltonian. In the case of  $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$  we recover the Mumford system, while in the case of  $\mathfrak{sl}(r+1)$  we find a generalization of the Mumford system due to Donagi-Markman (see [DM]).

(4) When  $\beta$  is not a principal nilpotent element then the whole structure theory of simple Lie algebras comes into play. Indeed, we will rely heavily on the beautiful paper [Kos1] by Kostant. As we learned from A. Schwarz, for any *d* coprime to r + 1, the space of matrices in  $\mathfrak{sl}(r + 1)$  of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ I_{r+1-d} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \lambda^n + \begin{pmatrix} \star & M_d \\ \star & \star \end{pmatrix} \lambda^{n-1} + \sum_{i=0}^{n-2} x_i \lambda^i,$$
(1.3)

where  $M_d$  is any lower triangular matrix of size d with ones on the diagonal, appears in the description of the solutions to the string equation [P, Q] = 1, or, in an analogous way, of the solutions to the commutativity equation [P, Q] = 0; in these equations P and Q are differential operators subject to certain normalizations (see [Sch] and [KV]). Notice that the matrix  $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_d \\ I_{r+1-d} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ , which is obtained from the leading coefficients, is regular due to the fact that d and r + 1 are

coprime. Applying our reduction theorem to the subspace N of matrices of the form (1.3) we find that the multi-Hamiltonian hierarchy reduces and that the quotient space can be naturally identified with an affine subspace of N. A key information which we also learned from Schwarz' description is that we should not act with the full isotropy group  $G_{\beta}$  but with the subgroup  $G_{\beta}^-$  of lower triangular matrices in  $G_{\beta}$  (with ones on the diagonal). In Section 4 we implement these ideas in the case of an arbitrary simple Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  and find for any homogeneous  $\beta$  the corresponding subspaces N of  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^\beta$  to which the multi-Hamiltonian hierarchies reduce; moreover we give the choices of  $\beta$  which lead to a quotient which is affine, thereby giving the Lie algebraic interpretation of the coprime condition which appears in the case of  $\mathfrak{sl}(r+1)$ . Notice that in this more general case  $G_{\beta}^-$  is not Abelian; moreover it can be shown that the action is not Hamiltonian.

(5) Another idea, which we learned from [MM], is that multi-Hamiltonian structures are often built up from a basic one by applying a master symmetry, i.e., there is a basic Poisson structure whose successive Lie derivatives with respect to a certain vector field  $\mathcal{V}$  provides a linear basis for all the Poisson structures. This vector field  $\mathcal{V}$  is given on  $\tilde{g}_n^{\beta}$  by

$$\dot{X}(\lambda) = \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} X(\lambda),$$

and it generates all the Hamiltonians and commuting vector fields starting from a few basic ones. We show that, as a consequence of our reduction theorem, the vector field  $\mathcal{V}$  projects on the quotient to a master symmetry which builds up the multi-Hamiltonian structure on the quotient space  $N_0$ . Since the operations of reduction and taking the Lie derivative commute it follows that it suffices to compute the reduction of one Poisson structure on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^{\beta}$  (in fact precisely the unique linear one) and apply successive Lie derivatives to it to find the other reduced Poisson structures. The basic properties of the vector field  $\mathcal{V}$  will be given in Section 2.2, we discuss the reduction of symmetries at the end of Section 3 and we find the reduced master symmetry in the case of the loop algebra in Section 4.2.

We will end this paper with a list of examples (Section 5). We will first show how our construction specializes in the case of  $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$  to the Mumford system. In this case we will explicitly compute all reduced brackets. We will give an explicit description of the quotient space (as a space of polynomials) for the classical Lie algebras and for  $G_2$ .

In conclusion we have a complete description of the multi-Hamiltonian structure of the Mumford system and its generalizations to arbitrary simple Lie algebras. It seems non-trivial but interesting to do the same for the even master system (see [Van1]), which also describes all linear flows on all hyperelliptic Jacobians by equations which are similar to (1.1). A proof of the integrability of the systems on the reduced space  $N_0$  involves algebraic geometric arguments, revealing also their algebraic complete integrability (this is done for the case of  $\mathfrak{sl}(n)$  in [DM]); we leave this and a study of the algebraic geometry of the fibers of the Hamiltonians — some of which are certainly interesting Abelian varieties — for the future.

Acknowledgments. We are grateful to many people for their interest in this paper and for useful related discussions. Among them we wish to mention Mark Adler, Francesco Bottacin, Paolo Casati, Filippo De Mari, László Fehér, Hermann Flaschka, Guido Magnano, Motohico Mulase, Serge Parmentier, Alexei Reyman, Albert Schwarz, Michael Semenov-Tian-Shansky and Pierre van Moerbeke. Special thanks are due to Franco Magri, who started this project with us, and to Beltram Kostant who provided us with a proof of Proposition 4.8. The support of MURST and of the GNFM of the Italian CNR is also greatly acknowledged. The first author thanks the Université Catholique de Louvain and the University of California at Davis for their hospitality.

# 2. Multi-Hamiltonian hierarchies and master symmetries on loop algebras

In this section we introduce a large class of multi-Hamiltonian hierarchies on the loop algebra  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}} = \mathfrak{g}((\lambda^{-1}))$ , where  $\mathfrak{g}$  is a finite-dimensional Lie algebra, which is equipped with an ad-invariant non-degenerate inner product. The multi-Hamiltonian structure of interest here was first introduced in [RS3] by using several *R*-brackets and is recalled in Paragraph 2.1. We exhibit several multi-Hamiltonian hierarchies, whose Hamiltonians are seen to be in involution by the classical *R*-matrix argument; we provide an alternative proof which uses the classical Lenard-Magri scheme. Following an idea of [MM] we show in Paragraph 2.2 that the different Poisson brackets which make up the multi-Hamiltonian structure are connected by the Lie derivative along a master symmetry  $\mathcal{V}$ , thereby giving another, more geometric, construction of these brackets. The vector field  $\mathcal{V}$  allows one to pass from one Hamiltonian (and its vector field with respect to any of the Poisson brackets) to another, hence playing a similar role as the recursion operator in the case of Poisson-Nijenhuis manifolds (see [KM]).

#### **2.1.** The loop algebra $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}} = \mathfrak{g}((\lambda^{-1}))$ and its Poisson brackets

Let  $\mathfrak{g}$  be a (finite-dimensional) Lie algebra and  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}}$  a non-degenerate inner product which is ad-invariant,  $\langle x, [y, z] \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}} = \langle [x, y], z \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}}$ . We fix a basis  $\{e_a\}_{a \in I}$  for  $\mathfrak{g}$  and define linear forms  $\xi_a: \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbf{C}$  by  $\xi_a = \langle \cdot, e_a \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}}$ . We look at  $\mathfrak{g}$  as an affine (algebraic) variety, in particular we consider  $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g}) = \mathbf{C} [\xi_a]_{a \in I}$  as its algebra of (regular) functions. For any  $F \in \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})$ , its gradient  $\nabla F(x)$  at  $x \in \mathfrak{g}$  is defined by

$$\langle \nabla F(x), y \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}} = \frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0} F(x+ty) \qquad \forall y \in \mathfrak{g}.$$

For any  $a \in I$  and  $F \in \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})$  the map  $x \mapsto \langle \nabla F(x), e_a \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})$ . It follows that for any  $F, G \in \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})$  the Poisson bracket  $\{F, G\}$ , defined by

$$\{F, G\}(x) = \langle x, [\nabla F(x), \nabla G(x)] \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}}, \qquad (2.1)$$

also belongs to  $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})$ , making  $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})$  into a Poisson algebra.

From  $\mathfrak{g}$  we construct the loop algebra  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}} = \mathfrak{g}((\lambda^{-1})) = \mathfrak{g}[\lambda] \oplus \lambda^{-1}\mathfrak{g}[[\lambda^{-1}]]$ . Elements of the loop algebra will be denoted by capital letters; for an element  $X = X(\lambda) = \sum x_i \lambda^i \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$  we write  $X = X_+ + X_-$  according to the above (vector space) decomposition. The inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}}$  on  $\mathfrak{g}$  leads to an inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$  via

$$\langle X(\lambda), Y(\lambda) \rangle = \sum_{i+j=-1} \langle x_i, y_j \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}}$$

By a slight abuse of notation one often writes  $\operatorname{Res} \langle X(\lambda), Y(\lambda) \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}}$  for the above right hand side; here  $\operatorname{Res} \sum x_i \lambda^i = x_{-1}$ . Clearly  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  is ad-invariant and non-degenerate just as  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}}$  is. For  $a \in I$ ,  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$  we define elements  $E_a^i = e_a \lambda^i$  of  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$  and linear functions  $\xi_a^i = \langle \cdot, E_a^{-i-1} \rangle$ . We wish to introduce an algebra  $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$  of functions on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$  for which we can define a gradient and a Poisson bracket as in the case of  $\mathfrak{g}$ , but which is large enough to contain functions of the type  $X(\lambda) \mapsto \operatorname{Res} H(X(\lambda))$  (for  $H \in \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})$ ), which will be important later. To do this we first define on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{\leq n} = \lambda^n \mathfrak{g}[[\lambda^{-1}]]$  an algebra of functions by

$$\mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{\leq n}) = \mathbf{C} \left[ \xi_a^i \right]_{a \in I \atop i < n}$$

and obtain from it the following algebra of functions on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ :

$$\mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}) = \left\{ F : \tilde{\mathfrak{g}} \to \mathbf{C} \mid \forall n \in \mathbf{Z} : F_{|\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{\leq n}} \in \mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{\leq n}) \right\}.$$

Thus, elements of  $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$  restrict to polynomials on all subspaces  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{\leq n}$ . As in the case of  $\mathfrak{g}$  the gradient  $\nabla F(X)$  of a function  $F \in \mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$  at  $X \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$  is defined by

$$\langle \nabla F(X), Y \rangle = \frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0} F(X+tY) \quad \forall Y \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}.$$
 (2.2)

**Proposition 2.1** For any  $X \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$  and  $F \in \mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$ ,  $\nabla F(X)$  is well-defined by (2.2) and belongs to  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ . For any  $F, G \in \mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$  the Poisson bracket  $\{F, G\}$ , defined by

$$\{F,G\}(X) = \langle X, [\nabla F(X), \nabla G(X)] \rangle,\$$

belongs to  $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$ , making  $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$  into a Poisson algebra.

Proof

The fact that the gradient is well-defined follows from non-degeneracy of  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ ; in fact, for any  $j \in \mathbf{Z}$  the coefficient  $(\nabla F(X))_j \in \mathfrak{g}$  is given by

$$\langle (\nabla F(X))_j, e_a \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}} = \langle \nabla F(X), E_a^{-j-1} \rangle = \frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0} F(X + tE_a^{-j-1})$$

If  $X \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{\leq n}$  then  $F(X + tE_a^j)$  is independent of t for j sufficiently small, since  $F_{|\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{\leq n}}$  is a polynomial. Thus,  $(\nabla F(X))_j$  is zero for j sufficiently large and  $\nabla F(X) \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ . Further,  $X \mapsto \langle \nabla F(X), E_a^j \rangle$  belongs to  $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$  for any  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$  since the restriction to any  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{< n}$  of the map

$$X \mapsto \frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0} F(X + tE_a^j)$$

is just a polynomial (in this formula, use  $F_{|\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{\leq m}}$  where  $m = \max\{n, j\}$ ). As a corollary, if  $F, G \in \mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$  then the map

$$X \mapsto \langle X, [\nabla F(X), \nabla G(X)] \rangle$$

belongs to  $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$ , giving a bracket  $\{\cdot, \cdot\} : \mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}) \times \mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}) \to \mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$ . The fact that it satisfies the Jacobi identity follows from the fact that (2.1) satisfies the Jacobi identity.

Following [RS3] we introduce a family  $R_l$  of endomorphisms of  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$  by

$$R: \tilde{\mathfrak{g}} \to \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}: X \mapsto X_{+} - X_{-},$$
  
$$R_{l}: \tilde{\mathfrak{g}} \to \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}: X \mapsto R(\lambda^{l}X).$$

**Proposition 2.2 ([RS3])** For any  $l \in \mathbb{Z}$  a Poisson bracket on  $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$  is defined by

$$\{F,G\}_l(X) = \frac{1}{2} \langle X, [R_l \nabla F(X), \nabla G(X)] + [\nabla F(X), R_l \nabla G(X)] \rangle$$

Moreover the brackets  $\{\cdot,\cdot\}_l$ ,  $l \in \mathbb{Z}$  form a family of compatible Poisson brackets, i.e., any linear combination of these brackets is a Poisson bracket.

As above these brackets are taken as brackets on  $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$ . We call them *R*-brackets and call  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$  the canonical Lie-Poisson bracket on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ . If we denote the structure constants of  $\mathfrak{g}$  with respect to the basis  $\{e_a\}_{a \in I}$  by  $C_{ab}^c$ , i.e.,  $[e_a, e_b] = \sum_{c \in I} C_{ab}^c e_c$ , then one easily finds by using  $\nabla \xi_a^i = E_a^{-i-1}$  that

$$\{\xi_a^i, \xi_b^j\}_l = \epsilon_l^{ij} \sum_{c \in I} C_{ab}^c \xi_c^{i+j+1-l},$$
(2.3)

where  $\epsilon_l^{ij} = 1$  if i, j < l and  $\epsilon_l^{ij} = -1$  if  $i, j \ge l$ ; otherwise  $\epsilon_l^{ij} = 0$ . The *R*-brackets have two remarkable properties which make them more relevant for integrable systems than the canonical Lie-Poisson bracket on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ . The first property, which follows immediately from (2.3), is that if  $-p \le l \le q + 1$  then  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_l$  restricts to the following natural finite-dimensional subspace of  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ ,

$$\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{-p,q} = \left\{ \sum_{i=-p}^{q} x_i \lambda^i \mid x_i \in \mathfrak{g} \right\}.$$
(2.4)

Since multiplication by  $\lambda^p$  induces an isomorphism  $(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{-p,q}, \{\cdot, \cdot\}_l) \longrightarrow (\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{0,p+q}, \{\cdot, \cdot\}_{l+p})$  we may restrict ourselves to the spaces  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{0,n}$  of matrices which are polynomial (in  $\lambda$ ) of degree at most n. In fact we will be interested in the affine subspaces of  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{0,n}$  defined by

$$\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{n}^{\beta} = \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{n} x_{i} \lambda^{i} \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}} \mid x_{n} = \beta \right\},$$
(2.5)

where  $\beta$  is any fixed element in  $\mathfrak{g}$ . The family of *R*-brackets which restricts to  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^{\beta}$  is also computed at once from (2.3) and is given in the following proposition.

**Proposition 2.3** If  $\beta$  is not a central element in  $\mathfrak{g}$  then the Poisson structure  $\sum_{l=-\infty}^{\infty} c_l \{\cdot, \cdot\}_l$  restricts to  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^{\beta}$  if and only if  $c_l = 0$  for l < 0 and for l > n.

The second remarkable property of the *R*-brackets is that the Ad-invariant functions on  $\mathfrak{g}$  lead to a large subalgebra  $\mathcal{A}$  of  $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$  which is involutive with respect to all these brackets. Indeed, a function  $H \in \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})$  induces a function  $H : \tilde{\mathfrak{g}} \to \mathbf{C}((\lambda^{-1}))$  and hence leads for any  $i \in \mathbf{Z}$  to a function  $H_i$  on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ , defined by

$$H_i(X(\lambda)) = \operatorname{Res} \frac{H(X(\lambda))}{\lambda^{i+1}}.$$
(2.6)

Clearly any such function  $H_i$  belongs to  $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$ .

**Proposition 2.4 ([RS3])** Let H and K be two Ad-invariant functions in  $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})$ . Then for any  $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}$  the functions  $H_i$  and  $K_j$  are in involution with respect to all R-brackets  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_l$ .

#### Proof

Ad-invariant functions in  $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})$  are those functions which are invariant for the adjoint action of a Lie group G for which  $\mathfrak{g} = \text{Lie } G$ . It may be impossible<sup>1</sup> to pick G algebraic but this is irrelevant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> If  $\mathfrak{g}$  is semi-simple then  $\overline{G}$  is algebraic, see [OV], p.29.

here because we only use the fact that such a function  $H \in \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})$  satisfies the infinitesimal condition  $[x, \nabla H(x)] = 0$ . To show the latter, use ad-invariance of  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}}$  and Ad-invariance of H to find

$$\langle [x, \nabla H(x)], y \rangle = \langle \nabla H(x), [y, x] \rangle = \frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0} H(x + t[y, x]) = \frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0} H(\operatorname{Ad}_{z(t)} x) = 0$$

when setting  $z(t) = \exp ty$ . In particular, if  $H \in \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})$  is Ad-invariant then, for any  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ , the function  $H_i \in \mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$  defined by (2.6) is Ad-invariant and  $[X, \nabla H_i(X)] = 0$ . It follows that if H and K are Ad-invariant functions on  $\mathfrak{g}$  then for any  $i, j, l \in \mathbb{Z}$ 

$$\{H_i, K_j\}_l(X) = \frac{1}{2} \langle X, [R_l \nabla H_i(X), \nabla K_j(X)] + [\nabla H_i(X), R_l \nabla K_j(X)] \rangle = 0,$$

showing that all functions on  $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$  which come from Ad-invariant functions on  $\mathfrak{g}$  are in involution with respect to all *R*-brackets.

The algebra of Ad-invariant functions on  $\mathfrak{g}$  is denoted by  $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})^G$  and the involutive algebra generated by all  $H_i$ ,  $i \in \mathbf{Z}$ ,  $H \in \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})^G$  is denoted by  $\mathcal{A}$ . If we define for any  $F \in \mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$  a vector field on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$  by  $\mathcal{X}_F = \{\cdot, F\}_0$  then the *i*-th vector field  $\mathcal{X}_{H_i}$   $(i \in \mathbf{Z})$  which comes from an Ad-invariant function  $H \in \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})^G$  is given by the Lax equation

$$\dot{X} = -\frac{1}{2} \left[ X, R \nabla H_i(X) \right].$$
(2.7)

Two alternative ways to write this are

$$\dot{X} = -[X, (\nabla H_i(X))_+] = [X, (\nabla H_i(X))_-].$$
 (2.8)

The vector fields  $\mathcal{X}_{H_i}$  are in fact Hamiltonian with respect to all brackets  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_l$ . To see this, check that for any  $H \in \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})$ ,

$$\frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0}\operatorname{Res}\frac{H(X+tY)}{\lambda^{i+1}} = \frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0}\operatorname{Res}\frac{H(X+t\lambda Y)}{\lambda^{i+2}},$$

showing that  $\nabla H_i(X) = \lambda \nabla H_{i+1}(X)$ . It follows that (2.7) can be written in Lax form with respect to all endomorphisms  $R_l$  and that for any  $H \in \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})^G$  the functions  $\{H_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{Z}}$  form a multi-Hamiltonian hierarchy in the sense that

$$\{\cdot, H_i\}_0 = \{\cdot, H_{i+l}\}_l \qquad (i, l \in \mathbf{Z}).$$
(2.9)

The relations (2.9), which are called Lenard relations, can be used to give an alternative proof of Proposition 2.4. For functions belonging to the same hierarchy the classical argument applies (see, e.g., [CMP]), giving  $\{H_i, H_j\}_l = \{H_j, H_i\}_l = 0$ . For members of different hierarchies, coming from different functions  $H, K \in \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})^G$  some care is needed since none of the  $H_i$  or  $K_j$  is a Casimir for any of the *R*-brackets. However, we see from (2.8) that for any  $X \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$  the Hamiltonian vector field  $\mathcal{X}_{H_s}$  vanishes at X for s large enough since then  $(\nabla H_s(X))_+ = 0$ . Thus also in this case the Lenard relations give (e.g., for the zeroth *R*-bracket)

$$\{H_i, K_j\}_0(X) = \{H_s, K_{j-s+i}\}_0(X) = 0.$$

which shows that functions which belong to different hierarchies are also in involution.

#### 2.2. Master symmetries and the deformation property

In this paragraph we show how the Poisson brackets  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_l$  are related by a vector field  $\mathcal{V}$  which is a master symmetry<sup>2</sup> for the involutive algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  (introduced after Proposition 2.4). We mean by this that  $\mathcal{V}$  has the property  $[[\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{X}_F], \mathcal{X}_G] = 0$  for all  $F, G \in \mathcal{A}$  (a symmetry has the stronger property  $[\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{X}_F] = 0$  for all  $F \in \mathcal{A}$ ). The vector field  $\mathcal{V}$  has in addition the deformation property with respect to the brackets  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_l$ ; this means that the Lie derivative of any bracket  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_l$  in the direction of  $\mathcal{V}$  is also a Poisson bracket<sup>3</sup>. As was shown in [MM] this implies that any bracket  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_l$ is compatible with its Lie derivative in the direction of  $\mathcal{V}$ .

The vector field  $\mathcal{V}$  is defined as the infinitesimal generator of the action of  $\mathbf{C}$  on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$  given by "shift in  $\lambda$ ",

$$\left(s, \sum x_i \lambda^i\right) \mapsto \sum x_i (\lambda + s)^i;$$

here we use for negative powers of  $\lambda$  the formal expansion

$$(\lambda + s)^{-1} = \sum_{i \ge 0} (-1)^i s^i \lambda^{-i-1}$$

which is actually convergent for small s, in particular it is the right definition if one wants to consider the fundamental vector field  $\mathcal{V}$  of this action: the latter is easily computed as

$$\dot{X}(\lambda) = \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} X(\lambda)$$
 i.e.  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}} \xi_a^j = (j+1) \xi_a^{j+1},$ 

where  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}$  denotes the Lie derivative along  $\mathcal{V}$ . The two mentioned properties of  $\mathcal{V}$  are given by the following proposition.

### **Proposition 2.5** Let $i, l \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $H \in \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})^G$ be arbitrary.

a)  $\mathcal{V}$  has the deformation property with respect to all brackets  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_l$ , more precisely the relation

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}\{F,G\}_{l} - \{\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}F,G\}_{l} - \{F,\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}G\}_{l} = -l\{F,G\}_{l-1}$$
(2.10)

holds, i.e., the Lie derivative of the l-th R-bracket is (up to a factor -l) the (l-1)-th R-bracket;

b) 
$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}H_i = (i+1)H_{i+1};$$

c)  $[\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{X}_{H_i}] = \mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}H_i} = (i+1)\mathcal{X}_{H_{i+1}};$ 

d) 
$$\mathcal{V}$$
 is a master symmetry for  $\mathcal{A}$ .

#### Proof

It suffices to verify a) for  $F = \xi_a^i$  and  $G = \xi_b^j$  with say  $i \leq j$ . We can use (2.3); since for this particular F and G all terms in (2.10) are proportional to  $\sum_c C_{ab}^c \xi_c^{i+j-l+2}$  it actually suffices to keep track of the coefficients and the proof of (2.10) amounts to the verification of the following identity,

$$(i+j-l+2)\epsilon_l^{ij} - (i+1)\epsilon_l^{i+1,j} - (j+1)\epsilon_l^{i,j+1} = -l\epsilon_{l-1}^{ij}$$

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  The concept of a master symmetry was first introduced by Fuchssteiner (see [Fuc]). The notion we use here is slightly more general.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In many important examples the master symmetries for an algebra which is involutive with respect to some Poisson bracket have the deformation property with respect to this Poisson bracket, however these two properties are independent in general.

As for b),

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}H_{i}(X) = \frac{d}{ds}|_{s=0} \operatorname{Res} \frac{H(X(\lambda+s))}{\lambda^{i+1}}$$
$$= \operatorname{Res} \frac{1}{\lambda^{i+1}} \frac{d}{d\lambda} H(X(\lambda))$$
$$= \operatorname{Res} \left[ \frac{d}{d\lambda} \left( \frac{H(X(\lambda))}{\lambda^{i+1}} \right) + (i+1) \frac{H(X(\lambda))}{\lambda^{i+2}} \right]$$
$$= (i+1) \operatorname{Res} \frac{H(X(\lambda))}{\lambda^{i+2}},$$

which is precisely  $(i+1)H_{i+1}(X)$ . For c) we substitute l = 0 and  $G = H_i$  in part a) to find

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}\{F, H_i\}_0 = \{\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}F, H_i\}_0 + \{F, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}H_i\}_0,\$$

which can also be written as  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}(\mathcal{X}_{H_i}(F)) = \mathcal{X}_{H_i}(\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}F) + \mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}H_i}(F)$ ; using b) we conclude c). In order to show d) first notice that  $[\mathcal{X}_F, \mathcal{X}_G] = -\mathcal{X}_{\{F,G\}_0} = 0$  for any  $F, G \in \mathcal{A}$ . Then c) implies that  $[[\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{X}_{H_i}], \mathcal{X}_G] = 0$  for any  $H \in \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})^G$  and for any  $G \in \mathcal{A}$ . By the Jacobi identity we also have that  $[[\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{X}_G], \mathcal{X}_{H_i}] = 0$ . The more general statement that  $[[\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{X}_G], \mathcal{X}_F] = 0$  for any  $F, G \in \mathcal{A}$  follows from b) upon using the fact that  $\mathcal{A}$  is generated by the functions  $H_i$  where *i* runs over  $\mathbb{Z}$  and Hruns over  $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})^G$ .

Picking any two Poisson structures such as  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_0$  and  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_l$  the relations (2.9) and Proposition 2.5 can be depicted in the following diagram (we omit the coefficients;  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}^l := \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}} \circ \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}^{l-1}$ ),

**Remark 2.6** An *R*-bracket on a Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  leads also to a quadratic and a cubic bracket, assuming that the Lie algebra derives from an associative algebra, with a pairing  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}}$  which derives from a traceform (see [LP] and [OR]). Explicitly the quadratic bracket  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_Q$  and the cubic bracket  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_C$  are given for  $F, G \in \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})$  by

$$\{F,G\}_Q(x) = \frac{1}{2} \langle [x,\nabla F(x)], R(x\nabla G(x) + \nabla G(x)x) \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}} - \frac{1}{2} \langle [x,\nabla G(x)], R(x\nabla F(x) + \nabla F(x)x) \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}} \\ \{F,G\}_C(x) = \langle [x,\nabla F(x)], R(x\nabla G(x)x) \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}} - \langle [x,\nabla G(x)], R(x\nabla F(x)x) \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}}.$$

When applied to the *R*-bracket on the loop algebra  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$  of  $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{gl}(N)$  we get a quadratic and a cubic Poisson bracket on  $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$ . It was shown in [LP] that the linear, the quadratic and the cubic bracket are related by the vector field  $\mathcal{U}_{X(\lambda)} = X^2(\lambda)$ . It is easy to prove that  $\mathcal{U}$  is a master symmetry for the algebra  $\mathcal{A}$ , which is in the case  $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{gl}(N)$  generated by the functions

$$I_{ij}(X) = \operatorname{Res} \frac{\operatorname{Tr} X^i(\lambda)}{\lambda^{j+1}}, \qquad i > 0, \ j \in \mathbf{Z};$$

[LP] gives Lenard relations for the functions  $I_{ij}$  with respect to these brackets. Using the fact that  $\mathcal{U}$  and  $\mathcal{V}$  commute it is easy to show that  $\mathcal{V}$  also has the deformation property with respect to both the quadratic and the cubic brackets, e.g., the Lie derivative in the direction of  $\mathcal{V}$  of the quadratic

bracket which corresponds to  $R_l$  is (-l times) the quadratic bracket which corresponds to  $R_{l-1}$ ; this leads in particular to another set of Lenard relations for the functions  $I_{ij}$ . It follows that on the loop algebra  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$  the cubic and the quadratic bracket have all properties which the *R*-brackets have:  $\mathcal{A}$  is involutive with respect to these brackets, the corresponding Hamiltonian vector fields are multi-Hamiltonian with respect to these brackets and the brackets are connected by the Lie derivative with respect to the vector fields  $\mathcal{U}$  and  $\mathcal{V}$  which are master symmetries for  $\mathcal{A}$ . The higher order brackets differ however from the linear structures in one crucial aspect: as it is easy to see they do not restrict to any of the finite-dimensional spaces  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{-p,q}$ , defined in (2.4). Similarly the vector field  $\mathcal{U}$  clearly does not restrict to any of the subspaces  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{-p,q}$  (except in the trivial case p = q = 0).

# 3. Poisson reduction and reduction of symmetries

In order to construct our examples we need a reduction theorem which leads to a Poisson structure in the following situation: for N a subvariety of an affine Poisson variety  $(M, \{\cdot, \cdot\})$  with an algebraic group G acting on it (leaving N stable) we want an inherited Poisson structure on the quotient space N/G. By an affine Poisson variety we mean an affine variety whose algebra of regular functions is equipped with the structure of a Poisson algebra. We will assume that our group G also carries a Poisson structure (which may be trivial).

If N is a Poisson subvariety of M then a Poisson structure on N/G, or, more precisely, on the ring  $\mathcal{O}(N)^G$  of G-invariant regular functions on N, will exist if the map  $\chi: G \times N \to N$  is a Poisson map with respect to some Poisson structure on G; such an action is called a Poisson action<sup>4</sup> and the bracket is called a reduced bracket. If N is not a Poisson subvariety of M then N/G may still inherit a bracket from M: we will give below necessary and sufficient conditions for this to happen.

The following notation will be useful: the algebra of regular functions on M which restrict to G-invariant functions on N is denoted by  $\mathcal{O}(M, N)^G$ ; we have a natural restriction<sup>5</sup> map  $\rho$  :  $\mathcal{O}(M, N)^G \to \mathcal{O}(N)^G$ . The ideal of N is denoted by I(N) and we have an inclusion map  $i : N \to M$ . Also, if  $\phi : M_1 \to M_2$  is a regular map between affine varieties then we denote by  $\phi^*$  the induced map  $\mathcal{O}(M_2) \to \mathcal{O}(M_1)$  defined by  $\phi^*(f) = f \circ \phi$ .

**Definition 3.1** Let  $(M, \{\cdot, \cdot\})$  be an affine Poisson variety,  $\chi : G \times M \to M$  a Poisson action and N a subvariety of M which is G-stable. Then the triple (M, G, N) is called *Poisson-reducible* if  $\mathcal{O}(M, N)^G$  is a Poisson subalgebra of  $\mathcal{O}(M)$  and if there exists a Poisson bracket on  $\mathcal{O}(N)^G$  such that

$$\{\rho(F_1), \rho(F_2)\}_{\mathcal{O}(N)^G} = \rho\{F_1, F_2\}$$
(3.1)

holds for all  $F_1, F_2 \in \mathcal{O}(M, N)^G$ .

Formula (3.1) says that in order to compute the Poisson bracket of two *G*-invariant functions on *N* one computes the Poisson bracket of any extensions to *M* and then restricts the result to *N*. Note also that (3.1) uniquely defines a bracket on  $\mathcal{O}(N)^G$  (if it exists) since  $\rho$  is surjective. In the following theorem, which is similar in spirit to the Marsden-Ratiu reduction theorem (see [MR]), we give necessary and sufficient conditions for (M, G, N) to be Poisson-reducible.

**Theorem 3.2** Let  $(M, \{\cdot, \cdot\})$  be an affine Poisson variety,  $\chi : G \times M \to M$  a Poisson action and N a subvariety of M which is G-stable. Then (M, G, N) is Poisson-reducible if and only if

$$\rho \left\{ \mathcal{O}(M,N)^G, I(N) \right\} = 0; \tag{3.2}$$

it is implicit in this condition that its left hand side makes sense.

Proof

Suppose first that condition (3.2) is satisfied. We proceed to show that

$$\left\{ \mathcal{O}(M,N)^G, \mathcal{O}(M,N)^G \right\} \subset \mathcal{O}(M,N)^G.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Some authors, e.g., [LM] use this term in the more restricted sense in which G is given the trivial Poisson structure; then  $\chi$  being a Poisson action means that for any  $g \in G$  the induced map  $\chi_g : N \to N$  is a Poisson map.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> <sup>5</sup> This restriction map is onto, although the restriction map  $\mathcal{O}(M)^G \to \mathcal{O}(N)^G$  is not onto in general.

If we denote by  $\pi_{2,N}$  the projection  $G \times N \to N$  onto the second factor than *G*-invariance of a function  $f \in \mathcal{O}(N)$  is conveniently expressed by the formula  $\chi^* f = \pi^*_{2,N} f$ . Thus we need to show that

$$\chi^* \imath^* \{F_1, F_2\} = \pi^*_{2,N} \imath^* \{F_1, F_2\}$$
(3.3)

for any  $F_1, F_2 \in \mathcal{O}(M, N)^G$ . Since  $\chi$  and  $\pi_{2,N}$  are the restrictions to  $G \times N$  of the corresponding maps  $\chi$  and  $\pi_{2,M}$  on  $G \times M$  and since these maps are Poisson maps, (3.3) is equivalent to

$$(1_G \times i)^* \left( \{\chi^* F_1, \chi^* F_2\}_{G \times M} - \{\pi^*_{2,M} F_1, \pi^*_{2,M} F_2\}_{G \times M} \right) = 0,$$
(3.4)

where  $1_G$  is the identity map on G. For  $g \in G$  and  $n \in N$  we define maps  $\chi_g : M \to M$  and  $\chi_n : G \to M$  by inserting g resp. n in  $\chi$ . Then  $\chi_n^* F$  is constant for any  $F \in \mathcal{O}(M, N)^G$  so that

$$\{\chi^* F_1, \chi^* F_2 - \pi^*_{2,M} F_2\}_{G \times M}(g, n) = \{\chi^*_g F_1, \chi^*_g F_2 - F_2\}(n) + \{\chi^*_n F_1, \chi^*_n F_2 - F_2(n)\}_G(g)$$
  
=  $\{\chi^*_g F_1, \chi^*_g F_2 - F_2\}(n),$ 

which vanishes by the assumption (3.2). Therefore

 $(1_G \times i)^* \{ \chi^* F_1, \chi^* F_2 - \pi^*_{2,M} F_2 \}_{G \times M} = 0,$ (3.5)

and similarly

$$(1_G \times i)^* \{ \chi^* F_1 - \pi^*_{2,M} F_1, \pi^*_{2,M} F_2 \}_{G \times M} = 0.$$
(3.6)

Summing (3.5) and (3.6) we find (3.4) which shows that  $\{F_1, F_2\} \in \mathcal{O}(M, N)^G$ .

It follows that we can actually use (3.1) to define  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_{\mathcal{O}(N)^G}$ : on the one hand  $\rho$  is surjective, on the other hand the bracket on  $\mathcal{O}(N)^G$  given by (3.1) is well-defined since if  $\rho(\tilde{F}_2) = \rho(F_2)$  then  $i^*\{F_1, \tilde{F}_2 - F_2\} = 0$ , another application of (3.2). From the definition it is also immediate that  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_{\mathcal{O}(N)^G}$  satisfies the Jacobi identity so we get a Poisson bracket on  $\mathcal{O}(N)^G$  which satisfies (3.1).

This shows the if part; the only if part is trivial since  $\rho(I(N)) = 0$ .

**Remark 3.3** Suppose that all algebras under consideration are finitely generated. Then  $\mathcal{O}(N)^G$  is the algebra of functions on an affine variety N/G which can be considered as the quotient of N by G. Similarly  $\mathcal{O}(M, N)^G$  corresponds then to an affine variety (M, N)/G, obtained by taking the quotient of M with respect to G but along N only, i.e., only N is shrunk inside M into its orbit space N/G while the other points of M remain intact. In geometric terms formula (3.2) states that the Hamiltonian vector fields which are associated to functions on M which are G-invariant on N, are tangent to N (at points of N). It follows from the proof of Theorem 3.2 that if condition (3.2) holds then (M, N)/G inherits a Poisson bracket from M and in turn N/G inherits a Poisson bracket from (M, N)/G are tangent to N/G.

As an application of this theorem let us show that if a vector field  $\mathcal{V}$  which descends to the quotient has the deformation property with respect to some Poisson-reducible bracket then this deformation property is conserved after the reduction. We need the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.4** Let M be an affine variety,  $\mathcal{V}$  a vector field on M and G a linear algebraic group acting on M; let N be an affine subvariety, stable for G, and suppose that  $\mathcal{V}$  is tangent to N,  $\mathcal{W} = \mathcal{V}_{|N}$ . Then

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{O}(N)^G \subset \mathcal{O}(N)^G \tag{3.7}$$

is equivalent to

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}\mathcal{O}(M,N)^G \subset \mathcal{O}(M,N)^G \tag{3.8}$$

and implies the commutativity of the following diagram.

Proof

Let  $\pi_N^* : \mathcal{O}(N)^G \to \mathcal{O}(N)$  denote the inclusion map (which may be thought of as coming from the quotient map  $\pi_N : N \to N/G$ ) and note the obvious relation  $i^* = \pi_N^* \rho$ , which holds on  $\mathcal{O}(M, N)^G$ . Then formula (3.8) follows from (3.7),

$$i^{*}\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}\mathcal{O}(M,N)^{G} = \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}}i^{*}\mathcal{O}(M,N)^{G} = \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}}\pi_{N}^{*}\mathcal{O}(N)^{G} = \pi_{N}^{*}\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{O}(N)^{G} \subset \pi_{N}^{*}\mathcal{O}(N)^{G};$$

for the proof of the other direction surjectivity of  $\rho$  is essential:

$$\pi_N^* \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}} \mathcal{O}(N)^G = \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}} \pi_N^* \rho \ \mathcal{O}(M, N)^G = \imath^* \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}} \mathcal{O}(M, N)^G \subset \imath^* \mathcal{O}(M, N)^G = \pi_N^* \mathcal{O}(N)^G.$$

Moreover, for  $F \in \mathcal{O}(M, N)^G$  we have

$$\pi_N^* \mathcal{L}_W \rho(F) = \mathcal{L}_W \pi_N^* \rho(F) = \mathcal{L}_W \imath^* F = \imath^* \mathcal{L}_V F = \pi_N^* \rho \mathcal{L}_V F,$$

which shows that the diagram is commutative.

**Theorem 3.5** Let (M, G, N) be Poisson-reducible with respect to a Poisson bracket  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$  on Mand suppose that  $\mathcal{V}$  is a vector field on M which is tangent to  $N, \mathcal{W} = \mathcal{V}_{|N}$ , and which has the deformation property with respect to  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$ . If  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{O}(N)^G \subset \mathcal{O}(N)^G$  then

- a) (M, G, N) is Poisson-reducible with respect to  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}'$ , the Lie derivative of  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$  in the direction of  $\mathcal{V}$ ;
- b)  $\mathcal{W}$  has the deformation property with respect to  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_{O(N)^G}$ ;

c) the Lie derivative of  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_{\mathcal{O}(N)^G}$  in the direction of  $\mathcal{W}$  is the reduced bracket of  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}'$ .

Thus the deformation property survives the reduction and the operations of reduction and deformation commute.

#### Proof

To show that (M, G, N) is Poisson-reducible with respect to  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}'$ , we use the necessary and sufficient condition (3.2) of Theorem 3.2. Since

$$\{F,G\}' = \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}\{F,G\} - \{\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}F,G\} - \{F,\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}G\},\$$

we have that

$$\rho\{\mathcal{O}(M,N)^G,I(N)\}' = \rho\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}\{\mathcal{O}(M,N)^G,I(N)\} - \rho\{\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}\mathcal{O}(M,N)^G,I(N)\} - \rho\{\mathcal{O}(M,N)^G,\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}I(N)\}$$

and each term of the right hand side vanishes because (M, G, N) is Poisson-reducible with respect to  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$ : for the first term use commutativity of (3.9), for the second one use (3.8) and the last is zero because  $\mathcal{V}$  is tangent to N,  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}I(N) = 0$ .

Next we show that the Lie derivative of  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_{\mathcal{O}(N)^G}$  in the direction of  $\mathcal{W}$  is the reduced bracket  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_{\mathcal{O}(N)^G}$  of  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}'$ . This means that if  $f_1, f_2 \in \mathcal{O}(N)^G$  then

$$\{f_1, f_2\}'_{\mathcal{O}(N)^G} = \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}}\{f_1, f_2\}_{\mathcal{O}(N)^G} - \{\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}}f_1, f_2\}_{\mathcal{O}(N)^G} - \{f_1, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}}f_2\}_{\mathcal{O}(N)^G}.$$
 (3.10)

Let  $f_1 = \rho(F_1)$ ,  $f_2 = \rho(F_2)$  and use (3.1) and commutativity of (3.9):

$$\begin{split} \{f_1, f_2\}'_{\mathcal{O}(N)^G} &= \rho\{F_1, F_2\}' \\ &= \rho\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}\{F_1, F_2\} - \rho\{\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}F_1, F_2\} - \rho\{F_1, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}F_2\} \\ &= \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}}\{f_1, f_2\}_{\mathcal{O}(N)^G} - \{\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}}f_1, f_2\}_{\mathcal{O}(N)^G} - \{f_1, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}}f_2\}_{\mathcal{O}(N)^G}. \end{split}$$

Since we have proved that  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}'_{\mathcal{O}(N)^G}$  is a Poisson bracket on  $\mathcal{O}(N)^G$  we have shown in particular that  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}}$  has the deformation property with respect to  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_{\mathcal{O}(N)^G}$  and we are done.

**Remark 3.6** Under the conditions of Remark 3.3 the conditions (3.7) and (3.8) mean that the vector fields  $\mathcal{W}$  and  $\mathcal{V}$  are tangent to the quotient spaces N/G and (M, N)/G.

**Remark 3.7** The conditions of Theorem 3.5 are also sufficient to conclude that a master symmetry for a subalgebra  $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{O}(M, N)^G$  descends to a master symmetry on the quotient. To prove this let  $F \in \mathcal{O}(M, N)^G$  and note that  $\mathcal{X}_F = \{\cdot, F\}$  is tangent to N. If we denote by  $\mathcal{Y}_F$  the restriction of  $\mathcal{X}_F$  to N then  $\mathcal{Y}_F$  is given as a derivation of  $\mathcal{O}(N)^G$  by  $\mathcal{Y}_F = \{\cdot, \rho(F)\}_{\mathcal{O}(N)^G}$  and we have that  $\mathcal{Y}_F \rho = \rho \mathcal{X}_F$ . Using (3.9), written as  $\mathcal{W}\rho = \rho \mathcal{V}$ , we get

$$[\mathcal{Y}_F, [\mathcal{Y}_G, \mathcal{W}]] \rho = \rho [\mathcal{X}_F, [\mathcal{X}_G, \mathcal{V}]] = 0,$$

since  $\mathcal{V}$  is a master symmetry for  $\mathcal{A}$ . Since  $\rho$  is surjective  $\mathcal{W}$  is a master symmetry for  $\rho(\mathcal{A})$ .

# 4. Reduction for simple Lie algebras

In this section we apply our two reduction theorems to the finite-dimensional subspaces  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^\beta$  of  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ , defined in (2.5), in case  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$  is the loop algebra of a complex simple Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g} \subset \mathfrak{gl}(N)$  of rank r (see [Hum] and [Ser]). We denote by G any algebraic group whose Lie algebra equals  $\mathfrak{g}$ . We fix a Weyl basis  $\{H_i, E_i, F_i\}_{i=1}^r$  of  $\mathfrak{g}$ , i.e., a collection of 3r generators for  $\mathfrak{g}$  such that  $H_i$  spans a Cartan subalgebra  $\mathfrak{h}$ , and the following commutation relations<sup>6</sup> hold:

$$[E_i, F_j] = \delta_{ij}F_i, \quad [H_i, E_j] = n_{ji}E_j, \quad [H_i, F_j] = -n_{ji}F_j.$$

Here  $(n_{ij})$  is the Cartan matrix of  $\mathfrak{g}$  and the indices i, j take values between 1 and r. The Weyl basis leads to a gradation  $\mathfrak{g} = \bigoplus_{i=-k}^{k} \mathfrak{g}_i$  of  $\mathfrak{g}$ :  $\mathfrak{g}_0 = \mathfrak{h}$  and for i positive (negative)  $\mathfrak{g}_i$  is spanned by the *i*-fold commutators of the elements  $E_1, \ldots, E_r$   $(F_1, \ldots, F_r)$ . An element of  $\mathfrak{g}_i$  is called a homogeneous element of degree i and h = k+1 is called the Coxeter number of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . The projection of  $\mathfrak{g}$  on  $\mathfrak{g}_i$  is denoted by  $\Pi_i$ . We will also use the decomposition  $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{n}^- \oplus \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{n}^+$ , where  $\mathfrak{n}^{\pm} = \bigoplus_{i=\pm 1}^{\pm k} \mathfrak{g}_i$ . We will consider a set  $\{I_1, \ldots, I_r\}$  of Chevalley invariants of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . They are homogeneous polynomials which generate the algebra  $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})^G$  of invariants for the adjoint action of G on  $\mathfrak{g}$  (see [Var] p. 333). We denote the degree of  $I_j$  by  $d_j$  and call the numbers  $q_j = d_j - 1$  the exponents of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . We will always assume the invariants  $I_j$  to be ordered by degree. Then the exponents bear the following relations (see [Kos1]):

$$1 = q_1 < q_2 \le q_3 \le \dots \le q_{r-1} < q_r = k.$$
(4.1)

The Chevalley invariants lead to the following G-invariant functions on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ :

$$I_{ij}(X) = \operatorname{Res} \frac{I_i(X)}{\lambda^{j+1}},$$

which by definition generate the involutive algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  introduced in Section 2.

#### 4.1. Poisson reduction

Let  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  be homogeneous elements of  $\mathfrak{g}$  such that deg  $\alpha$  - deg  $\beta = h$ . We put deg  $\beta = -d$  and we define, as in Paragraph 2.1,

$$\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^\beta = \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^n x_i \lambda^i \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}} \mid x_n = \beta \right\},\,$$

together with the following affine subspace

$$N = \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{n} x_i \lambda^i \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^\beta \mid \Pi_j(x_{n-1} - \alpha) = 0 \text{ if } j \ge \deg \alpha \right\}.$$

**Lemma 4.1** Let  $\mathfrak{g}_{\beta}$  be the isotropy algebra of  $\beta$  and let  $\mathfrak{g}_{\beta}^{-} = \mathfrak{g}_{\beta} \cap \mathfrak{n}^{-}$ . Then the action of  $G_{\beta}^{-} = \exp \mathfrak{g}_{\beta}^{-}$  on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{n}^{\beta}$  leaves N invariant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Our definition of a Weyl basis differs from the one in [Ser] by a transposition in the Cartan matrix, i.e., [Ser] takes  $[H_i, E_j] = n_{ij}E_j$ ; our choice simplifies the explicit formulas for the Weyl bases given in the examples.

#### Proof

It suffices to show that if  $\Pi_j(x_{n-1} - \alpha)$  vanishes for all  $j \ge \deg \alpha$  then the same holds true for  $\Pi_j(\operatorname{Ad}_{\exp \nu} x_{n-1} - \alpha)$  when  $\nu \in \mathfrak{n}^-$ . The result follows at once from  $\operatorname{Ad}_{\exp \nu} = \exp \operatorname{ad}_{\nu}$ .

Recall from Proposition 2.3 that the brackets  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_l$  restrict to  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^{\beta}$  for  $0 \leq l \leq n$ . Notice however that the bracket  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_n$  does not restrict to N: if  $e_a$  is a basis element such that  $\deg e_a = \deg \alpha$ then  $\xi_a^{n-1} - \xi_a(\alpha)$  belongs to the ideal I(N) of N but  $\{\xi_a^{n-1}, \xi_b^0\}_n = C_{ab}^c \xi_c^0$ , which is non-zero for at least one value of b since  $\mathfrak{g}$  is simple. Therefore we are precisely in the case of the reduction theorem (Theorem 3.2).

**Theorem 4.2** The triple  $\left(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{n}^{\beta}, G_{\beta}^{-}, N\right)$  is Poisson-reducible with respect to each Poisson structure  $\sum_{l=0}^{n} c_{l}\{\cdot, \cdot\}_{l}$ .

#### Proof

We first show that the action of  $G_{\beta}^{-}$  on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{n}^{\beta}$  is Poisson. To do this we take the trivial Poisson structure on G, we fix any  $l \in \mathbb{Z}$  and show that  $(\operatorname{Ad}_{g})^{*} \{f_{1}, f_{2}\}_{l} = \{(\operatorname{Ad}_{g})^{*}f_{1}, (\operatorname{Ad}_{g})^{*}f_{2}\}_{l}$  for any  $g \in G$  and any  $f_{1}, f_{2} \in \mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}})$ . It is sufficient to show this for  $f_{1}$  and  $f_{2}$  linear; then  $(\operatorname{Ad}_{g})^{*}f_{1}$  and  $(\operatorname{Ad}_{g})^{*}f_{2}$  are linear too and their gradients do not depend on  $X \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$  (in particular we can omit the argument). Since

$$\frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0} f_1(\operatorname{Ad}_g(X+tY)) = f_1(\operatorname{Ad}_g Y) = \langle \nabla f_1, \operatorname{Ad}_g Y \rangle$$

we find that  $\langle \nabla(\mathrm{Ad}_g)^* f_1, Y \rangle = \langle \mathrm{Ad}_{g^{-1}} \nabla f_1, Y \rangle$  giving  $\nabla(\mathrm{Ad}_g)^* f_1 = \mathrm{Ad}_{g^{-1}} \nabla f_1$ . Then

$$\begin{aligned} \{(\mathrm{Ad}_g)^* f_1, (\mathrm{Ad}_g)^* f_2\}_l(X) &= \langle X, [\mathrm{Ad}_{g^{-1}} \nabla f_1, \mathrm{Ad}_{g^{-1}} \nabla f_2]_{R_l} \rangle \\ &= \langle \mathrm{Ad}_g X, [\nabla f_1, \nabla f_2]_{R_l} \rangle \\ &= \{f_1, f_2\}_l (\mathrm{Ad}_g X) \\ &= (\mathrm{Ad}_g)^* \{f_1, f_2\}_l (X). \end{aligned}$$

We will see in Proposition 4.4 that in certain interesting cases the action is even Hamiltonian. We now verify condition (3.2). The ideal I(N) of N is generated by those elements of the form  $\xi_a^{n-1} - \xi_a(\alpha)$  for which deg  $e_a \leq d - h$ . For  $l = 0, \ldots, n - 1$  these elements are Casimirs of  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_l$ . Indeed, if  $X \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^\beta$  and  $b \in I$  and  $0 \leq k \leq n - 1$  then

$$\{\xi_a^{n-1}, \xi_b^k\}_l(X) = \epsilon_l^{n-1,k} C_{ab}^c \xi_c^{n+k-l}(X) = 0$$

for  $k \neq l$ , while if k = l then

$$\{\xi_a^{n-1},\xi_b^l\}_l(X) = C_{ab}^c \xi_c^n(X) = C_{ab}^c \langle e_c,\beta \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}} = \langle [e_a,e_b],\beta \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}} = \langle [\beta,e_a],e_b \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}} = 0.$$

We used in the last equality that  $[\beta, e_a] = 0$  if deg  $e_a \leq d - h$ , which follows from deg $[\beta, e_a] \leq -h$ . This shows that (3.2) is satisfied when  $l \neq n$ . As for the *n*-th bracket, let  $F \in \mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^\beta, N)^{G_{\beta}^-}$  and let a be such that deg  $e_a \leq d - h$ ; notice that if F restricts to a  $G_{\beta}^-$  invariant function on N then F satisfies the infinitesimal condition

$$\langle [\nabla F(X), X], \nu \rangle = 0, \qquad \forall X \in N, \, \forall \nu \in \mathfrak{g}_{\beta}^{-}.$$

We need to show that  $\{\xi_a^{n-1}, F\}_n(X) = 0$  for any  $X \in N$ . But

$$\{\xi_a^{n-1}, F\}_n(X) = \frac{1}{2} \langle X, [e_a, \nabla F(X)] + [\lambda^{-n}e_a, R(\lambda^n \nabla F(X))] \rangle$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{2} \langle X, [e_a, \nabla F(X)] + [\lambda^{-n}e_a, \lambda^n \nabla F(X) - 2(\lambda^n \nabla F(X))_-] \rangle$$
  
$$= \langle X, [e_a, \nabla F(X)] \rangle - \langle X, [\lambda^{-n}e_a, (\lambda^n \nabla F(X))_-] \rangle.$$

For the first term we have  $\langle X, [e_a, \nabla F(X)] \rangle = \langle e_a, [\nabla F(X), X] \rangle = 0$  since  $e_a \in \mathfrak{g}_{\beta}$ , again because  $[\beta, e_a] = 0$ . Similarly we find that the second term vanishes:

$$\langle X, [\lambda^{-n}e_a, (\lambda^n \nabla F(X))_{-}] \rangle = \langle \beta, [e_a, (\lambda^n \nabla F(X))_{-1}] \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}} = 0.$$

If  $\beta$  is a generic nilpotent element then the action of  $G_{\beta}^{-}$  is Hamiltonian, a fact that can be used to give an alternative proof of Theorem 4.2 for such  $\beta$ . The proof of this depends on several facts about simple Lie algebras which we will recall now (see [Kos1] for details). A nilpotent element is called principal when its isotropy algebra has dimension r; in this case the isotropy algebra is Abelian. A generic nilpotent element is principal and all principal nilpotent elements are conjugate to  $\beta = \sum_{i=1}^{r} F_i$  whose isotropy algebra  $\mathfrak{g}_{\beta}$  is contained in  $\mathfrak{n}^-$ . Notice that as a consequence  $G_{\beta}^{-} = G_{\beta}$  and thus that it suffices to prove that the action of  $G_{\beta}$  on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{n}^{\beta}$  is Hamiltonian for  $\beta = \sum_{i=1}^{r} F_i$ . We will use the following lemma about the gradients of the Chevalley invariants.

**Lemma 4.3** If  $\beta = \sum_{i=1}^{r} F_i$  then the gradient of the *i*-th Chevalley invariant  $I_i$  at  $\beta$  is homogeneous of degree  $-(d_i - 1)$  and the gradients  $\nabla I_1(\beta), \ldots, \nabla I_r(\beta)$  are linearly independent.

#### Proof

For the first claim it suffices to show that  $\langle \nabla I_i(\beta), y \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}} = 0$  for all  $y \in \mathfrak{g}_j$  with  $j \neq (d_i - 1)$ , since  $\langle \mathfrak{g}_l, \mathfrak{g}_m \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}} = 0$  if  $l + m \neq 0$ . To show this we introduce for all  $x \in \mathfrak{g}$  the operator  $\partial_x : \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g}) \to \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g})$  defined by

$$(\partial_x f)(z) = \langle \nabla f(z), x \rangle = \frac{d}{dt} \int_{|t=0}^{\infty} f(z+tx),$$

and we observe that  $g(x) = \frac{1}{m!} (\partial_x^m g)(0)$  for any homogeneous polynomial g of degree m. Then, for  $x = \beta$  and  $f = I_i$ , we get

$$\langle \nabla I_i(\beta), y \rangle = \partial_y I_i(\beta) = \frac{1}{(d_i - 1)!} (\partial_{\beta}^{d_i - 1} \partial_y I_i)(0).$$

But the proof of Lemma 14 in [Kos2] shows that  $(\partial_{\beta}^{d_i-1}\partial_y I_i)(0) = 0$  if  $y \in \mathfrak{g}_j$  with  $j \neq d_i - 1$ . Finally, the elements  $\nabla I_i(\beta)$  are linearly independent since dim  $\mathfrak{g}_{\beta} = r$  (see [Kos2], Theorem 9).

**Proposition 4.4** If  $\beta = \sum_{i=1}^{r} F_r$  then the adjoint action of  $G_\beta$  on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^\beta$  is Hamiltonian with respect to every Poisson structure  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_l, l = 0, \ldots, n$ . We can choose a basis  $\{b_i\}_{i=1}^r$  of  $\mathfrak{g}_\beta$  in such a way that the corresponding infinitesimal generators  $\mathcal{X}_i$  of the action are the Hamiltonian vector fields

$$\mathcal{X}_{i} = \{\cdot, I_{i,n(d_{i}-1)-1}\}_{0} = \{\cdot, I_{i,n(d_{i}-1)+l-1}\}_{l}, \qquad l = 0, \dots, n, \quad i = 1, \dots, r$$

Proof

We first show that for any  $X \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^{\beta}$  and  $i = 1, \ldots, r$ 

$$b_i := \left(\nabla I_{i,n(d_i-1)-1}(X)\right)_+ \tag{4.2}$$

is independent of X as well as of  $\lambda$  and belongs to  $\mathfrak{g}_{\beta}$ . To see this, take  $x \in \mathfrak{g}$  to find that

$$\langle \nabla I_{i,n(d_i-1)-1}(X), x\lambda^{-l} \rangle = \frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0} \operatorname{Res} \frac{I_i(X+tx\lambda^{-l})}{\lambda^{n(d_i-1)}}$$

$$= \operatorname{Res} \frac{1}{\lambda^{n(d_i-1)}} \frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0} I_i(\beta\lambda^n + \dots + x_0 + tx\lambda^{-l}),$$

$$= \operatorname{Res} \lambda^n \frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0} I_i(\beta + x_{n-1}\lambda^{-1} + \dots + x_0\lambda^{-n} + tx\lambda^{-l-n})$$

$$= \operatorname{Res} \lambda^{-l} \langle \nabla I_i(\beta + x_{n-1}\lambda^{-1} + \dots + x_0\lambda^{-n}), x \rangle \mathfrak{g}.$$

Developing  $\nabla I_i$  in a Taylor series at  $\beta$  we find (taking  $l \geq 2$ ) that  $b_i$  is independent of  $\lambda$ , and (taking l = 1) that  $b_i = \nabla I_i(\beta)$ , independent of X. From this description we may conclude on the one hand that the elements  $b_i$  are independent, as a corollary of Lemma 4.3; on the other hand we may conclude that each  $b_i$  belongs to the isotropy algebra  $\mathfrak{g}_\beta$  of  $\beta$ , since

$$[\beta, b_i] = [\beta, \nabla I_i(\beta)] = 0$$

by Ad-invariance of  $I_i$ . Since dim  $\mathfrak{g}_{\beta} = r$ , it follows that the  $b_i$   $(i = 1, \ldots, r)$  span  $\mathfrak{g}_{\beta}$ .

The corresponding generators are clearly the vector fields  $\mathcal{X}_i$  defined by  $\dot{X} = [b_i, X]$ , where  $X \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^{\beta}$ . But using (2.8) and the definition of  $b_i$  it is easily seen that  $\mathcal{X}_i$  is the Hamiltonian vector field associated with  $I_{i,n(d_i-1)-1}$  by means of  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_0$ . Moreover, since their Hamiltonians are of the form  $I_{ij}$  the action of  $G_\beta$  is actually Hamiltonian with respect to any of the Poisson structures  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_l$   $(l = 0, \ldots, n)$ .

#### 4.2. Reduction of the master symmetry

We now turn our attention to the vector field  $\mathcal{V}$  on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$  which was shown to be a master symmetry for  $\mathcal{A}$  and to have the deformation property with respect to the brackets  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_l$ . We will now show that  $\mathcal{V}$  descends to a master symmetry which has the deformation property. We will use the same notation  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_l$  for the reduced brackets (on  $\mathcal{O}(N)^{G_{\beta}}$ ) as for the original ones (on  $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^{\beta})$ ).

**Proposition 4.5** The master symmetry  $\mathcal{V}$  is tangent to  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^{\beta}$  and  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{O}(N)^{G_{\beta}^{-}} \subset \mathcal{O}(N)^{G_{\beta}^{-}}$ , where  $\mathcal{W}$  denotes the restriction of  $\mathcal{V}$  to N. Therefore, the brackets  $\{\cdot,\cdot\}_l$  and  $\{\cdot,\cdot\}_{l-1}$  on  $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^{\beta})$  which are connected by the Lie derivative with respect to  $\mathcal{V}$  reduce to two brackets  $\{\cdot,\cdot\}_l$  and  $\{\cdot,\cdot\}_{l-1}$  on  $\mathcal{O}(N)^{G_{\beta}^{-}}$  which are connected by the Lie derivative with respect to  $\mathcal{W}$ . Moreover  $\mathcal{W}$  is a master symmetry for  $\rho(\mathcal{A})$ .

Proof

The flow of  $\mathcal{V}$  is given by

$$\phi_s: X(\lambda) \mapsto X(\lambda+s);$$

if  $X(\lambda) \in N$ ,  $X(\lambda) = \beta \lambda^n + x_{n-1} \lambda^{n-1} + \cdots$ , then

$$X(\lambda+s) = \beta(\lambda+s)^n + x_{n-1}(\lambda+s)^{n-1} + \cdots$$
  
=  $\beta\lambda^n + (ns\beta + x_{n-1})\lambda^{n-1} + \cdots$  (4.3)

belongs to N since  $\beta \in \mathfrak{n}_{-}$ , showing that  $\mathcal{V}$  is tangent to N. Also it is clear that  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}}\mathcal{O}(N)^{G_{\beta}^{-}} \subset \mathcal{O}(N)^{G_{\beta}^{-}}$  because  $G_{\beta}^{-}$  acts by simultaneous conjugation on the coefficients of  $\lambda$  in  $X(\lambda)$ , hence commutes with  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}}$ . Thus Theorem 3.5 applies to yield the first statement. The fact that  $\mathcal{W}$  is a master symmetry for  $\rho(\mathcal{A})$  follows from Remark 3.7.

# 4.3. The reduced space $N/G_{\beta}^{-}$ as a linear subspace $N_{0} \subset N$

We now show that when  $\alpha + \beta$  is regular then the algebra  $\mathcal{O}(N)^{G_{\beta}^{-}}$  is finitely generated (although  $G_{\beta}^{-}$  is not reductive) and that the quotient space  $N/G_{\beta}^{-}$  can be identified in a natural way with an affine subspace  $N_0$  of N. By naturality we mean here that under the identification which we will construct the involutive algebra  $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{O}(N/G_{\beta}^{-}) \cong \mathcal{O}(N)^{G_{\beta}^{-}}$  and the vector field  $\mathcal{W}$ correspond to their restriction to  $N_0$ , hence can easily be computed. Note however that the Poisson structures  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_l$  on  $N_0$  are not obtained by restriction.

We will assume, as in Paragraph 4.1, that  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are homogeneous with deg  $\alpha$  – deg  $\beta = h$ . We put  $d = -\deg \beta$  and we assume that  $\gamma = \alpha + \beta$  is regular, meaning that the isotropy subalgebra of  $\gamma$  is a Cartan subalgebra. We will give at the end of this section for every simple Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ an important class of pairs  $(\alpha, \beta)$  such that  $\alpha + \beta$  is regular. The only property that we will use about the regularity of  $\alpha + \beta$  is contained in the following lemma.

**Lemma 4.6** Let  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  be as above. Then  $\mathfrak{g}_{\alpha} \cap \mathfrak{g}_{\beta}^{-} = \{0\}$ .

#### Proof

If  $x \in \mathfrak{g}_{\alpha} \cap \mathfrak{g}_{\beta}^{-}$ , then x belongs to the isotropy algebra of  $\alpha + \beta$ , which is a Cartan subalgebra, hence x is semisimple. On the other hand  $x \in \mathfrak{n}^{-}$  hence it is nilpotent. Therefore x = 0.

The space  $N_0$  is constructed as follows. Let  $\mathfrak{q}_i$  be a subspace of  $\mathfrak{g}_i$ , for  $i = 1 - d, \ldots, h - d - 1$ , such that

$$\mathfrak{g}_i = \mathfrak{q}_i \oplus \left[\mathfrak{g}_\beta \cap \mathfrak{g}_{i+d-h}, \alpha\right]. \tag{4.4}$$

If we denote

$$\mathfrak{q} = \left( \oplus_{i=-k}^{-d} \mathfrak{g}_i \right) \oplus \left( \oplus_{i=1-d}^{h-d-1} \mathfrak{q}_i \right)$$

then  $N_0$  is defined by

$$N_0 = \{ X \in N \mid x_{n-1} = \alpha + \tilde{x}_{n-1}, \ \tilde{x}_{n-1} \in \mathfrak{q} \}.$$

**Theorem 4.7** If  $\alpha + \beta$  is regular then the inclusion  $j: N_0 \to N$  induces an algebra isomorphism  $\mathcal{O}(N)^{G_{\beta}^-} \cong \mathcal{O}(N_0)$  so that  $N/G_{\beta}^-$  is an affine space which can be identified with  $N_0$ . The functions in involution  $I_{ij}$  and the master symmetry  $\mathcal{W}$  on  $N_0$  are the restrictions of the corresponding functions  $I_{ij}$  and the master symmetry  $\mathcal{W}$  on  $N_0$ .

Proof

We first define a regular map  $N \to G_{\beta}^- : X \mapsto g_X$  which has the property that  $\operatorname{Ad}_{g_X} X \in N_0$ for any  $X \in N$  and equals X for any  $X \in N_0$ . To determine  $g_X$  use the fact that  $\mathfrak{g}_{\beta}^-$  is contained in  $\mathfrak{n}^-$  to write it as

$$g_X = \exp \nu$$
, with  $\nu = \sum_{j=1}^k \nu_{-j} \in \mathfrak{g}_\beta, \quad \nu_{-j} \in \mathfrak{g}_\beta \cap \mathfrak{g}_{-j}.$ 

Then

(

$$\operatorname{Ad}_{g_X}_{n-1} = \operatorname{Ad}_{g_X} x_{n-1} = x_{n-1} + [\nu, x_{n-1}] + \cdots = \left(\alpha + \sum_{i=-k}^{k-d} \Pi_i x_{n-1}\right) + \left[\sum_{j=1}^k \nu_{-j}, \alpha + \sum_{i=-k}^{k-d} \Pi_i x_{n-1}\right] + \cdots,$$

which has to be equal to  $\alpha + \sum_{i=1-d}^{h-1-d} q_i + p$ , with  $q_i \in \mathfrak{q}_i$  and  $p \in \bigoplus_{i=-k}^{-d} \mathfrak{g}_i$ . The projection on  $\mathfrak{g}_{h-d}$  yields  $\alpha = \alpha$  while projection on  $\mathfrak{g}_{h-d-1}$  leads to

$$\Pi_{h-d-1} x_{n-1} = q_{h-d-1} - [\nu_{-1}, \alpha],$$

from which  $q_{h-d-1}$  and  $\nu_{-1}$  are uniquely determined because of the direct sum decomposition

$$\mathfrak{g}_{h-d-1} = \mathfrak{q}_{h-d-1} \oplus [\mathfrak{g}_{\beta} \cap \mathfrak{g}_{-1}, \alpha]$$

and  $\mathfrak{g}_{\alpha} \cap \mathfrak{g}_{\beta}^{-} = \{0\}$  (Lemma 4.6). More generally, the projection on  $\mathfrak{g}_{j}$   $(j = h - d - 1, \dots, 1 - d)$  yields

$$\Pi_j x_{n-1} + (\text{known stuff}) = q_j - [\nu_{j+d-h}, \alpha],$$

which gives a unique  $q_j \in \mathfrak{q}_j$  and a unique  $\nu_{j+d-h} \in \mathfrak{g}_\beta \cap \mathfrak{g}_{j+d-h}$ . This gives us the desired map  $N \to G_\beta^-$ ; since all  $q_j$  and  $\nu_i$  are unique, all elements of  $N_0$  map to the identity element in  $G_\beta^-$ . The map  $N \to G_\beta^-$  is regular because the  $\nu_i$  depend linearly on the entries of  $x_{n-1}$  and  $\exp: \mathfrak{g}_\beta^- \to G_\beta^-$  is a regular map. Notice that only  $\prod_j x_{n-1}, j = 1 - d, \ldots, h - d - 1$  enter the construction of  $g_X$ , so that  $g_X = g_{X'}$  if  $\prod_j x_{n-1} = \prod_j x'_{n-1}$  for  $j = 1 - d, \ldots, h - d - 1$ .

We thus also have a regular map  $\psi: N \to N_0$  given by  $X \mapsto \operatorname{Ad}_{g_X} X$ . Let us show that the image of the induced injective map  $\psi^*: \mathcal{O}(N_0) \to \mathcal{O}(N)$  is precisely  $\mathcal{O}(N)^{G_{\beta}^-}$ . If  $F \in \mathcal{O}(N_0)$  then  $\psi^*F$  is  $G_{\beta}^-$ -invariant because  $\psi$  is  $G_{\beta}^-$ -invariant, hence  $\psi^*$  is injective; also, if F is a  $G_{\beta}^-$ -invariant function then its restriction to  $N_0$  maps to F under  $\psi^*$ , hence the image of  $\psi^*$  is  $\mathcal{O}(N)^{G_{\beta}^-}$ . In conclusion  $\mathcal{O}(N_0)$  and  $\mathcal{O}(N)^{G_{\beta}^-}$  are isomorphic and we can identify  $N_0$  as the quotient  $N/G_{\beta}^-$ .

The functions  $I_{ij}$  on N are  $G_{\beta}^-$ -invariant hence pass to the quotient  $N_0$ . Since the quotient map was induced by the inclusion map  $j: N_0 \to N$  the corresponding functions on  $N_0$  are just obtained by restriction. Formula (4.3) implies that  $\mathcal{W}$  is tangent to  $N_0$  and also that  $g_{X(\lambda)} = g_{X(\lambda+s)}$ . If we denote the restriction of  $\mathcal{W}$  to  $N_0$  by  $\mathcal{W}'$  then it follows that  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}}\psi^* = \psi^*\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}'}$ , in other words the projection of  $\mathcal{W}$  on  $N_0 = N/G_{\beta}^-$  is just  $\mathcal{W}'$ , the restriction of  $\mathcal{W}$  to  $N_0$ . In conclusion the functions in involution and their master symmetry have a simple description on the reduced space  $N_0$ .

We end this section by giving a general rule to select pairs  $(\alpha, \beta)$ , with deg  $\alpha$  – deg  $\beta = h$ , such that  $\alpha + \beta$  is regular. We first recall some facts from [Kos1], Theorem 6.7. Let  $\beta_1 = \sum_{i=1}^r F_i$  and let

 $\alpha_1 \in \mathfrak{g}_k, \, \alpha_1 \neq 0$ . Then  $\gamma_1 = \alpha_1 + \beta_1$  is regular, so that  $\mathfrak{h}' = \mathfrak{g}_{\gamma_1}$  is a Cartan subalgebra. Moreover, there exists a basis  $\{\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_r\}$  of  $\mathfrak{h}'$  with the following properties (here  $\Pi^{\pm}$  is the projection onto  $\mathfrak{n}^{\pm}$  and  $q_1 \leq q_2 \ldots \leq q_r$  are the exponents of  $\mathfrak{g}$ ):

1)  $\beta_s = \Pi^-(\gamma_s)$  is homogeneous of degree  $-q_s$ ;

2)  $\alpha_s = \Pi^+(\gamma_s)$  is homogeneous of degree  $h - q_s$ .

The next proposition allows us to determine which pairs  $(\alpha_s, \beta_s)$  are such that  $\gamma_s = \alpha_s + \beta_s$  is regular. We are grateful to B. Kostant for providing us with a proof.

**Proposition 4.8** The element  $\gamma_s$  is regular if and only if  $q_s$  is coprime to the Coxeter number h.

#### Proof

Let  $H_0$  be the unique element in  $\mathfrak{h}$  such that  $[H_0, E_i] = E_i$  for all  $i = 1, \ldots, r$  (the existence and uniqueness of  $H_0$  follow from the fact that the Cartan matrix of  $\mathfrak{g}$  is invertible). Then it is easily seen that

$$[H_0, x] = jx \qquad \forall \ x \in \mathfrak{g}_j. \tag{4.5}$$

If we define  $P_0 \in G$  by  $P_0 = \exp(\frac{2\pi\sqrt{-1}}{h}H_0)$ , then (4.5) implies that  $\operatorname{Ad}_{P_0}\gamma_i = \omega^{-q_i}\gamma_i$ , where  $\omega = e^{2\pi\sqrt{-1}/h}$ . In particular we have that  $\operatorname{Ad}_{P_0}(\mathfrak{h}') \subset \mathfrak{h}'$ , so that  $P_0$  belongs to the normalizer N(H') of  $H' = \exp \mathfrak{h}'$  in G. We denote the element of N(H')/H' which corresponds to  $P_0$  by c. The group W = N(H')/H' is called the Weyl group of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . Clearly each element  $w \in W$  acts on  $\mathfrak{h}'$  by the adjoint action; we will use w(x) to stand for  $\operatorname{Ad}_g x$ , where  $g \in N(H')$  is any representative of w. Since  $q_1 = 1$ , it follows from the fact that  $c(\gamma_s) = \omega^{-q_s}\gamma_s$  for  $s = 1, \ldots, r$  that the order of c is h.

Now let us suppose that m > 1 is a common divisor of  $q_s$  and h. Then we can write h = h'm,  $q_s = q'_s m$  for some  $h', q'_s \in \mathbf{N}$ . We show that  $\gamma_s$  cannot be regular by proving that  $c^{h'}$  is a nontrivial element of W that leaves  $\gamma_s$  fixed (see, e.g., [Kna], p.426–427). Indeed,

$$c^{h'}(\gamma_s) = \omega^{-q_s h'} \gamma_s = \omega^{-hq'_s} \gamma_s = \gamma_s,$$

and  $c^{h'}$  is not identity because the order of c is h > h'.

Conversely, assume that  $q_s$  is coprime to h. Then  $\omega_s = \omega^{-q_s}$  is still a primitive h-root of unity. If  $\{I_j\}_{j=1,...,r}$  are the Chevalley invariants, deg  $I_j = q_j + 1$ , then we have that  $I_j(\gamma_s) = 0$  for all j < r. Indeed,

$$I_j(\gamma_s) = I_j(c(\gamma_s)) = I_j(\omega_s \gamma_s) = \omega_s^{q^j + 1} I_j(\gamma_s),$$

while (4.1) implies that  $q_j + 1 < q_r + 1 = h$ , so that  $\omega_s^{q_j+1} \neq 1$  for j < r. On the other hand,  $I_r(\gamma_s)$  cannot vanish, because any element of  $\mathfrak{g}$  at which all invariants vanish is nilpotent (see Theorem 9.1 of [Kos1]). Therefore there exists a non-zero  $b \in \mathbb{C}$  such that  $I_j(b\gamma_1) = I_j(\gamma_s)$  for  $j = 1, \ldots, r$ . Now, Lemma 9.2 of [Kos1] states that two elements of a Cartan subalgebra at which all invariants take the same values are W-conjugate. Since  $\gamma_1$  is regular,  $\gamma_s$  is regular too.

## 5. Examples

In this section we elaborate on the examples of the classical Lie algebras and  $G_2$ . Each will be realized as a subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{sl}(N)$  and we will use  $\langle x, y \rangle_{\mathfrak{g}} = \operatorname{Tr}(xy)$  as ad-invariant inner product; the representation will be such that  $\mathfrak{g}$  has a Weyl basis of a simple form. We denote by  $e_{ij}$  the  $N \times N$  matrix whose only non-zero entry is a one at position (i, j).

#### 5.1. The Mumford system

We first show that when our construction is applied to the case of  $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{sl}(2)$  we get the Mumford system. We explicitly describe the reduced brackets, exhibit the multi-Hamiltonian hierarchies and check the deformation property of the master symmetry.

A Weyl basis for  $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{sl}(2)$  is given by  $E = e_{12}$ ,  $F = e_{21}$ ,  $H = e_{11} - e_{22}$ , leading to  $\beta = e_{21}$ and  $\alpha = e_{12}$ . Then  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^\beta$  consists of those matrices

$$egin{pmatrix} v(\lambda) & u(\lambda) \ w(\lambda) & -v(\lambda) \end{pmatrix}$$

for which  $w(\lambda)$  is monic of degree n and both  $u(\lambda)$  and  $v(\lambda)$  have degree less than n. We will write  $u(\lambda) = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} u_i \lambda^i$  and similarly for  $v(\lambda)$  and  $w(\lambda)$ . The hyperplane N of  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^\beta$  is defined by the extra condition that  $u(\lambda)$  is monic of degree n-1, i.e., it is defined by  $u_{n-1} = 1$ . The group  $G_\beta$  consists of all matrices of the form  $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ a & 1 \end{pmatrix}$  with Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}_\beta = \mathbf{C}\beta = \mathfrak{g}_{-1}$ . For i = 0 the decomposition (4.4) gives

$$\mathfrak{g}_0 = \mathfrak{q}_0 \oplus [\mathfrak{g}_{-1}, \alpha],$$

leading to  $\mathfrak{q}_0 = 0$ . Therefore the quotient space  $N/G_\beta$  is identified with the affine space  $N_0$  of all matrices

$$\begin{pmatrix} V(\lambda) & U(\lambda) \\ W(\lambda) & -V(\lambda) \end{pmatrix} \text{ such that } \begin{cases} U(\lambda) \text{ monic, } \deg U(\lambda) = n-1 \\ \deg V(\lambda) < n-1, \\ W(\lambda) \text{ monic, } \deg W(\lambda) = n. \end{cases}$$

Again we will write  $U(\lambda) = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} U_i \lambda^i$ , where  $U_{n-1} = 1$ , and similarly for  $V(\lambda)$  and  $W(\lambda)$ . Since the algebra of invariant polynomials on  $\mathfrak{g}$  is generated by  $x \mapsto \operatorname{Tr} x^2$  we find that the algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^\beta$  is generated by the coefficients (in  $\lambda$ ) of the polynomial

$$u(\lambda)w(\lambda) + v^2(\lambda),$$

and on  $N_0$  by the coefficients of

$$U(\lambda)W(\lambda) + V^2(\lambda).$$

In order to describe the reduced Poisson structures on  $N_0$  we define  $u_i, U_i, \ldots$  to be zero for all values for which those variables have not been previously defined (e.g.,  $u_{-1} = u_n = 0$ ). Then formula (2.3) for the brackets  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_l (0 \le l \le n)$  gives

$$\begin{split} \{u_i, v_j\}_l &= \epsilon_l^{ij} u_{i+j+1-l}, \\ \{v_i, w_j\}_l &= \epsilon_l^{ij} w_{i+j+1-l}, \\ \{w_i, u_j\}_l &= 2\epsilon_l^{ij} v_{i+j+1-l}, \end{split}$$

and all other brackets (between linear functions) are zero. The map  $N \to G_{\beta} : X \mapsto g_X$  sends

$$\begin{pmatrix} v(\lambda) & u(\lambda) \\ w(\lambda) & -v(\lambda) \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ v_{n-1} & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

so that the quotient map  $N \to N_0 : X \mapsto \operatorname{Ad}_{g_X} X$  is given explicitly by

$$U_{i} = u_{i},$$

$$V_{i} = v_{i} - u_{i}v_{n-1},$$

$$i = 0, 1, \dots, n-1.$$

$$W_{i} = w_{i} + 2v_{i}v_{n-1} - u_{i}v_{n-1}^{2},$$
(5.1)

The reduced brackets are computed by extending the functions at the right hand side of (5.1) (which are  $G_{\beta}$ -invariant functions on N) to functions on  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^{\beta}$  and by taking their bracket; we will<sup>7</sup> do this simply by taking the same expressions, but forgetting that  $u_{n-1} = 1$ . For example if  $l \neq n$  then  $\{V_i, W_j\}_l$  is found from

$$\{v_i - u_i v_{n-1}, w_j + 2v_j v_{n-1} - u_j v_{n-1}^2\}_l = \epsilon_l^{ij} w_{i+j+1-l} - \epsilon_l^{ij} u_{i+j+1-l} v_{n-1}^2 + 2\epsilon_l^{ij} v_{i+j+1-l} v_{n-1} + u_i \delta_j^l,$$

giving  $\{V_i, W_j\}_l = \epsilon_l^{ij} W_{i+j+1-l} + U_i \delta_j^l$ . In this way the reduced brackets  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_l$  are found to be given, for  $l = 0, 1, \ldots, n-1$ , by

$$\{U_{i}, V_{j}\}_{l} = \epsilon_{l}^{ij} U_{i+j+1-l}, \qquad \{U_{i}, U_{j}\}_{l} = 0, \{V_{i}, W_{j}\}_{l} = \epsilon_{l}^{ij} W_{i+j+1-l} + U_{i} \delta_{j}^{l}, \qquad \{V_{i}, V_{j}\}_{l} = 0, \{W_{i}, U_{j}\}_{l} = 2\epsilon_{l}^{ij} V_{i+j+1-l}, \qquad \{W_{i}, W_{j}\}_{l} = 2\delta_{i}^{l} V_{j} - 2\delta_{j}^{l} V_{i},$$

$$(5.2)$$

while the bracket  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_n$  is quadratic and is given by

$$\{U_i, V_j\}_n = \epsilon_n^{ij} U_{i+j+1-n} - U_i U_j, \qquad \{U_i, U_j\}_n = 0, \{V_i, W_j\}_n = \epsilon_n^{ij} W_{i+j+1-n} - U_i W_j, \qquad \{V_i, V_j\}_n = 0, \{W_i, U_j\}_n = 2\epsilon_n^{ij} V_{i+j+1-n} - 2U_j V_i, \qquad \{W_i, W_j\}_n = 2V_i W_j - 2V_j W_i.$$

$$(5.3)$$

Using these explicit formulas it is easy to verify that  $\mathcal{V}$  has the deformation property with respect to all these brackets. For example, for the *n*-th bracket (which is quadratic) we find

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}\{U_{i}, V_{j}\}_{n} - \{\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}U_{i}, V_{j}\}_{n} - \{U_{i}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}V_{j}\}_{n}$$

$$= [(i+j+2-n)\epsilon_{n}^{ij} - (i+1)\epsilon_{n}^{i+1,j} - (j+1)\epsilon_{n}^{i,j+1}]U_{i+j+2-n}$$

$$= -n\epsilon_{n-1}^{ij}U_{i+j+2-n}$$

$$= -n\{U_{i}, V_{j}\}_{n-1}.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Note that we can e.g. extend  $v_i - u_i v_{n-1}$  also to the more symmetric expression  $u_{n-1}v_i - u_i v_{n-1}$ , but according to Theorem 3.2 the final result is independent of the chosen extensions.

Similarly (5.2) and (5.3) can be used to compute the Hamiltonian vector fields  $\mathcal{X}_{I_i} = \{\cdot, I_i\}_0$  on  $N_0$ , where  $I_i$  is the *i*-th coefficient of  $U(\lambda)W(\lambda) + V^2(\lambda)$ . For example

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{X}_{i}(U(\lambda)) &= \{U(\lambda), I_{i}\}_{0} \\ &= \sum_{j+k=i} \sum_{l=0}^{n-2} \{U_{l}, U_{j}W_{k} + V_{j}V_{k}\}_{0}\lambda^{l} \\ &= \sum_{j+k=i} \sum_{l=0}^{n-2} (2U_{j}V_{k+l+1} - V_{j}U_{k+l+1} - U_{l+j+1}V_{k})\lambda^{l} \\ &= 2U(\lambda) \left[\frac{V(\lambda)}{\lambda^{i+1}}\right]_{+} - 2V(\lambda) \left[\frac{U(\lambda)}{\lambda^{i+1}}\right]_{+}. \end{aligned}$$

If we denote

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} V(\lambda) & U(\lambda) \\ W(\lambda) & -V(\lambda) \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } B_i = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -U_i & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

then we recover the Lax equations

$$\dot{A} = -[A, (\lambda^{-i-1}A)_+ + B_i]$$
(5.4)

of which Mumford's vector field (1.1) is a special case (up to a factor -2; here n = g + 1). Another way to obtain the vector field  $\mathcal{X}_{I_i}$  on  $N_0$  is to project the corresponding vector field on N along the tangent space to the orbits of  $G_{\beta}$ . Since this is spanned by  $[A, \beta]$ , one has to write

$$[A, (\lambda^{-i-1}A)_{-}] = \dot{A} + c(A)[A, \beta], \qquad A \in N_0,$$

where c is a function on  $N_0$ . The entry (1,1) of the coefficient of  $\lambda^{n-1}$  of this equation gives  $c(A) = U_i$ , and then (5.4) follows.

#### **5.2.** *A*<sub>*r*</sub>

We now discuss the case of  $\mathfrak{sl}(r+1)$  and obtain for every positive integer which is smaller than r+1 and coprime to r+1 a generalization of the Mumford system to matrices of size r+1. We will label the entries of elements of  $\mathfrak{sl}(r+1)$  with indices  $0, \ldots, r$ .

A Weyl basis  $\{H_i, E_i, F_i\}_{i=1}^r$  is defined by  $H_i = e_{i-1,i-1} - e_{i,i}$ ,  $E_i = e_{i,i-1}$ , and  $F_i = E_i^t$ . Clearly then  $\mathfrak{g}_i$  is spanned by the elements  $e_{j,i+j}$  so that dim  $\mathfrak{g}_i = r - i + 1$  for i > 0 and h = r + 1. The elements  $\alpha_1 \in \mathfrak{g}_{r+1}$  and  $\beta_1 = \sum_{i=1}^r F_i$  look as follows:

$$\alpha_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \cdots & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \qquad \beta_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & & & \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The isotropy algebra of  $\alpha_1 + \beta_1$  is the algebra of matrices  $(a_{ij})$  for which  $a_{ij} = a_{i+1,j+1}$ , where the indices i, j take values in  $\mathbf{Z}_{r+1}$ . It follows that  $\beta_d$  and  $\alpha_d$  are given by

$$\alpha_d = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_d \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \qquad \beta_d = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ I_{r+1-d} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

We fix a *d* coprime to r + 1 and let  $\alpha = \alpha_d$  and  $\beta = \beta_d$ . Then the space  $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}_n^\beta$  consists of polynomials of degree *n* with coefficients in  $\mathfrak{g}$  whose top coefficient equals  $\beta$ . The elements of the subvariety *N* are those for which the second coefficient equals  $\alpha$  plus arbitrary terms of degree less than r + 1 - d. The Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}_{\overline{\beta}}^-$  consists of the strictly lower triangular matrices of the form  $a_{ij}$  for which  $a_{i+d,j+d} = a_{ij}$ ; here  $0 \leq j < i \leq r - d$ .

**Proposition 5.1** If  $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{sl}(r+1)$  and d is coprime to h = r+1 then the quotient space  $N_0$  is given by <sup>8</sup>

$$N_0 = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0\\ I_{h-d} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \lambda^n + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_d\\ \star & \star \end{pmatrix} \lambda^{n-1} + \sum_{i=0}^{n-2} x_i \lambda^i \mid x_i \in \mathfrak{sl}(r+1) \right\}.$$

Proof

Taking into account Theorem 4.7, we need to show that the spaces  $\mathfrak{q}_i$ , for  $1-d \leq i \leq h-d-1$ , can be chosen in such a way that the elements of  $\mathfrak{q}$  have the form  $\begin{pmatrix} 0_{d,r+1} \\ \star \end{pmatrix}$ . In other words, if  $\mathfrak{q}_i$  is the span of  $\{e_{j,j+i}\}_{j=d,\dots,h-1-i}$ , we must check that  $\mathfrak{q}_i \oplus [\mathfrak{g}_\beta \cap \mathfrak{g}_{i+d-h}, \alpha] = \mathfrak{g}_i$ . Since  $\mathfrak{g}_\beta^- \cap \mathfrak{g}_a = \{0\}$  (by Lemma 4.6), we have that  $\dim[\mathfrak{g}_\beta \cap \mathfrak{g}_{i+d-h}, \alpha] = \dim(\mathfrak{g}_\beta \cap \mathfrak{g}_{i+d-h})$ ; then from the explicit description of  $\mathfrak{g}_\beta^-$  it is easily seen that

$$\dim \mathfrak{q}_i + \dim [\mathfrak{g}_\beta \cap \mathfrak{g}_{i+d-h}, \alpha] = \dim \mathfrak{g}_i,$$

so that we are left with showing that  $\mathfrak{q}_i \cap [\mathfrak{g}_\beta \cap \mathfrak{g}_{i+d-h}, \alpha] = \{0\}$ . To this aim, let us suppose that  $M \in \mathfrak{g}_\beta \cap \mathfrak{g}_{i+d-h}$  and  $[M, \alpha] \in \mathfrak{q}_i$ ; then  $[M, \alpha]_{s,s+i} = 0$  for all  $s = \max\{-i, 0\}, \ldots, d-1$ , that is,

$$M_{s,s+i+d-h} = M_{h+s-d,s+i}$$
 for any  $s = 0, \dots, d-1,$  (5.5)

where we have put  $M_{jk} = 0$  for indices j and k outside the range  $0, \ldots, r = h - 1$ . Let us define for  $t = 0, \ldots, h - 1$  the elements  $m_t = M_{t,t+i+d-h}$ ; then we have that  $m_t = 0$  for  $0 \le t \le h - d - i - 1$ . Moreover, equation (5.5) takes the form

$$m_t = m_{t+h-d}$$
 for  $t = 0, \dots, d-1$ . (5.6)

If  $i \leq 0$ , it is not difficult to show that this implies  $m_t = 0$  for all t, that is, M = 0. For  $i \geq 1$ , we have to use also the fact that  $M \in \mathfrak{g}_{\beta}$ , i.e., that

$$m_t = m_{t+d}$$
 for  $t = h - d - i, \dots, h - d - 1.$  (5.7)

Now, equation (5.6) says that we can think of the indices in  $m_t$  as belonging to  $\mathbf{Z}_{h-d}$ . We already know that  $m_t = 0$  for  $0 \le t \le h-d-i-1$ . In order to show that  $m_s = 0$  for  $h-d-i \le s \le h-d-1$ , we fix such an  $m_s$  and we observe that  $m_s = m_{s+d}$  on account of (5.7). If  $s + d = s_1 + t_1(h-d)$  with  $0 \le s_1 \le h-d-i-1$  then we are done. Otherwise, we can add d again to  $s_1$ , and we are sure that finally we will obtain an  $s_i$  such that  $0 \le s_i \le h-d-i-1$  since the equivalence class of d is a generator of  $\mathbf{Z}_{h-d}$  (because d and h-d are coprime).

A set of Chevalley invariant of  $\mathfrak{g}$  is given by the polynomials  $I_i : x \mapsto \operatorname{Tr} x^{i+1}$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, r$ , or, equivalently, by the coefficients of the characteristic polynomial  $\det(x - \mu \operatorname{Id})$ . Therefore the coefficients of  $\det(X(\lambda) - \mu \operatorname{Id})$  give generators for  $\mathcal{A}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In this formula and in several formulas that follow we use stars as an abbreviation for arbitrary matrices of the appropriate size; of course it is understood that these "arbitrary" matrices must be chosen such that the resulting matrix is in  $\mathfrak{g}$ .

#### **5.3.** $B_r$ and $C_r$

As usually these two families, which correspond to the symplectic and half of the orthogonal algebras can be treated simultaneously. The representations which we will choose are the ones for which the gradation is the restriction of the one for  $\mathfrak{sl}(N)$ ; here N = 2r + 1 corresponds to the orthogonal algebra  $B_r$  and N = 2r to the symplectic algebra  $C_r$ . Let T denote the following  $N \times N$  matrix,

$$T = \begin{pmatrix} & & 1 \\ & -1 & \\ & 1 & \\ & -1 & \\ & \ddots & \end{pmatrix}$$
 i.e.  $T_{ij} = (-1)^{N-j} \delta_{i+j,N+1},$ 

then  $\mathfrak{g}$  is defined by  $X^tT + TX = 0$ , i.e.

$$X_{N+1-l,k} = (-1)^{N+k+l} X_{N+1-k,l}.$$

The meaning of this is that the main diagonal and all its parallels at even distance are skewsymmetric with respect to the secondary diagonal (hence  $\operatorname{Tr} X = 0$ ) while the other ones are symmetric. Then dim  $\mathfrak{g} = r(2r+1)$  where  $r = \left\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \right\rfloor$  is the rank of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . If N = 2r + 1 then we define

$$E_{i} = e_{i,i+1} + e_{2r+1-i,2r+2-i}, \qquad i = 1, \dots, r-1$$
  

$$E_{r} = 2(e_{r,r+1} + e_{r+1,r+2}),$$
  

$$F_{i} = e_{i+1,i} + e_{2r+2-i,2r+1-i}, \qquad i = 1, \dots, r,$$

while if N = 2r we define

$$E_i = e_{i,i+1} + e_{2r-i,2r+1-i}, \qquad i = 1, \dots, r-1,$$
  
 $E_r = e_{r,r+1},$ 

and  $F_i = E_i^t$  for i = 1, ..., r. In either case, if we introduce  $H_i = [E_i, F_i]$  for i = 1, ..., r, then  $\{H_i, E_i, F_i\}$  is a Weyl basis for  $\mathfrak{g}$ . In particular the associated gradation  $\mathfrak{g} = \bigoplus_{k=k}^k \mathfrak{g}_i$  is the restriction of the one for  $\mathfrak{sl}(N)$  and we have dim  $\mathfrak{g}_i = r - [i/2]$  for  $i \ge 1$ . In both cases the Coxeter number h equals 2r. The principal nilpotent element  $\beta_1$  is the same one as in the  $\mathfrak{sl}(N)$  case and  $\alpha_1$  is for N even respectively for N odd given by

$$\alpha_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \cdots & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \qquad \text{resp.} \qquad \alpha_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \cdots & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & 1 \\ \vdots & & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

If N is even then  $\alpha_1 + \beta_1$  is the same as in the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2r)$  case and therefore its isotropy algebra can be obtained by means of a simple restriction. In particular  $\alpha_d$  and  $\beta_d$  have the same form as in the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2r)$  case (but only odd values of d are allowed) and when d is coprime to 2r (i.e., to r) the quotient space can be identified with a suitable affine subspace  $N_0$ . If d = 1 a possible choice for the coefficient of  $\lambda^{n-1}$  of the elements in  $N_0$  is

0	*	0	*	• • •	*	0	$1 \setminus$
*	*	*	*	• • •	*	*	0
*		•••		•••			*
							:
(*		•••		•••		*	0/

If d = 2r - 1 two possible choices are

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & & \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & & \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \\ & & \ddots & 0 & 1 & 0 & & \\ & & \star & 0 & 1 & & \\ & & \ddots & & \ddots & \ddots & \\ 0 & \star & 0 & \cdots & & & 1 \\ \star & 0 & \cdots & & & & 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{or} \quad \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & & \\ \star & 0 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & & \\ 0 & 0 & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \\ \vdots & & \ddots & 0 & 1 & 0 & \\ \vdots & & & 0 & 1 & & \\ \star & & & & \ddots & \ddots & \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & & & 1 \\ \star & 0 & \star & \cdots & & & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$

When N is odd the isotropy algebra of  $\alpha_1 + \beta_1$  consists of those elements of the form

giving immediately the expressions for  $\alpha_d$  and  $\beta_d$ . For d = 1 the coefficient of  $\lambda^{n-1}$  in  $N_0$  can be chosen as  $(0 + 0 + \cdots + 0 + \cdots + 0) + 0$ 

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & \star & 0 & \star & \cdots & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \star & \star & \star & \star & \cdots & \star & 0 & 1 \\ \star & & \cdots & & \cdots & \star & 0 \\ \vdots & & & & & & \vdots \\ \star & & \cdots & & & \star & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

while for d = 2r - 1 two natural choices are

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & & & \\ 0 & 0 & 2 & 0 & \cdots & & & \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & & \\ & & \ddots & 0 & 2 & 0 & & \\ & & & \star & 0 & 2 & & \\ & & & \ddots & & \ddots & \ddots & \\ 0 & \star & 0 & \ddots & & 0 & 2 & 0 \\ \star & 0 & \star & & & 0 & 1 & \\ 0 & \star & 0 & \cdots & & & & 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{or} \quad \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & & & \\ \star & 0 & 2 & 0 & \cdots & & \\ 0 & 0 & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \\ \vdots & & & 0 & 2 & 0 & \\ \vdots & & & 0 & 2 & 0 & \\ \star & & & & \ddots & \ddots & \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & & 0 & 2 & 0 \\ \star & 0 & 0 & \cdots & & 0 & 2 & 0 \\ \star & 0 & 0 & \cdots & & 0 & 2 & 0 \\ \star & 0 & 0 & \cdots & & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$

A set of Chevalley invariants, whose degrees are  $2, 4, \ldots, 2r$  is given by the non-zero coefficients of the characteristic polynomial, viewed as functions on  $\mathfrak{g}$ .

5.4.  $D_r$ 

We realize  $D_r$  as a subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{sl}(N)$ , N = 2r as follows. Let T denote the following  $N \times N$  matrix,

$$T = \begin{pmatrix} & & & 1 \\ & & -1 & \\ & & \ddots & & \\ & -1 & & \\ 1 & & & \end{pmatrix}$$
 i.e.  $T_{ij} = (-1)^{\frac{|j-i|+1}{2}} \delta_{i+j,N+1}$ 

then **g** is defined as before by  $X^{t}T + TX = 0$ , i.e.

$$X_{N+1-l,k} = \pm (-1)^{k-l} X_{N-k+1,l}, \quad \text{if} \quad \frac{2k-N-1}{2l-N-1} \leq 0.$$

Thus, up to the  $\pm$  sign this is the same as in the case of  $C_r$  and a generic element of  $D_r$  is written down by writing down a generic element of  $C_r$ , putting zeros at the secondary diagonal and changing all signs under this diagonal, except in the south-east  $r \times r$  block. In particular Tr X = 0and dim  $\mathfrak{g} = r(2r-1)$ . A Weyl basis for  $\mathfrak{g}$  is in this case given by  $\{E_i, F_i, H_i\}$  where

$$E_i = e_{i,i+1} + e_{2r-i,2r+1-i}, \qquad i = 1, \dots, r-1,$$
  
$$E_r = e_{r-1,r+1} + e_{r,r+2},$$

 $F_i = E_i^t$  and  $H_i = [E_i, F_i]$  for i = 1, ..., r. The associated gradation  $\mathfrak{g} = \bigoplus_{k=k}^{k} \mathfrak{g}_i$  is now slightly more complicated; the portion above the secondary diagonal of a typical element of  $\mathfrak{g}_i$ , i > 0 has the following snake-shaped form.

Precisely, a basis of  $\mathfrak{g}_i$ , i > 0 is given by

$$e_{j,i+j} + (-1)^{i-1} e_{2r-i-j+1,2r-j+1}, \qquad j = 1, \dots, r-i,$$
  
$$e_{j-1,i+j} + (-1)^{i-1} e_{2r-i-j+1,2r-j+2}, \qquad j = \max\{2, r-i+1\}, \dots, r-\left\lfloor\frac{i}{2}\right\rfloor,$$

giving dim  $\mathfrak{g}_i = r - [i/2]$  for  $1 \leq i < r$  and dim  $\mathfrak{g}_i = r - [i/2] - 1$  for  $i \geq r$ . A set of Chevalley invariants is given by the non-zero coefficients of the characteristic polynomial, with the highest

order one (the determinant) being replaced with its square root. The elements  $\alpha_1$  and  $\beta_1$  take the form

$$\alpha_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \cdots & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & 1 \\ \vdots & & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad \beta_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & & & & & \\ 1 & 0 & & & & \\ & & 1 & 0 & & \\ & & & 1 & 0 & & \\ & & & & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ & & & & & \ddots & \ddots \\ & & & & & & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and one can show that  $\alpha_{2r-2} = E_1 + 2 \sum_{i=2}^{r-2} E_i + E_{r-1} + E_r$  and

$$\beta_{2r-2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots \\ 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \cdots & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

For d = 1 the space q may be taken consisting of all elements in g of the form

the 0 in the second row appearing at position  $2\left[\frac{r+1}{2}\right]$ . For d = 2r - 2 a possible choice for  $\mathfrak{q}$  is

/0	0	• • •	•••	0 \
*	0	• • •		
0	0			
÷	:			:
*	0			
*	0			
0	0	• • •	•••	,
÷	÷			
*	0			:
0	0			
*	0	• • •		
$\setminus 0$	*	• • •		0/

where the pair of stars in the first column appear at positions 2[r/2] and 2[r/2] + 1.

**5.5.** *G*<sub>2</sub>

Finally here is  $\mathfrak{g}=\mathfrak{g}_2$  in the standard representation, as taken from [FH]. A Weyl basis is given by

 $F_1$  is obtained by transposing  $E_1$  and interchanging the middle 1 and 2,  $F_2 = E_2^t$  and  $H_i = [E_i, F_i]$ , (i = 1, 2). The spaces  $\mathfrak{g}_i$  making up the gradation are spanned by the following vectors:

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{g}_1 &: E_1, \ E_2 \\ \mathfrak{g}_2 &: E_3 = [E_1, E_2] \\ \mathfrak{g}_3 &: E_4 = [E_1, [E_1, E_2]] \\ \mathfrak{g}_4 &: E_5 = [E_1, [E_1, [E_1, E_2]]] \\ \mathfrak{g}_5 &: E_6 = [E_2, [E_1, [E_1, [E_1, E_2]]]] \end{split}$$

the spaces  $\mathfrak{g}_{-i}$ , i > 0, being constructed by using in the above formulas F's instead of E's. The ring of invariants is generated by Tr  $X^2$  and Tr  $X^6$ , so that the exponents are 1 and 5. The elements  $\alpha_1$  and  $\beta_1$  are given by  $\alpha_1 = E_6$  and  $\beta_1 = F_1 + F_2$ , and the isotropy algebra of  $\alpha_1 + \beta_1$  is spanned by  $F_1 + F_2 + E_6$  and  $F_6 + 36E_1 + 72E_2$ . Therefore we also have  $\alpha_5 = 6E_1 + 12E_2$  and  $\beta_5 = F_6/6$ . Since

$$\begin{aligned} [\mathbf{\mathfrak{g}}_{\beta_1} \cap \mathbf{\mathfrak{g}}_{-1}, \alpha_1] &= \mathbf{\mathfrak{g}}_4, \\ [\mathbf{\mathfrak{g}}_{\beta_1} \cap \mathbf{\mathfrak{g}}_{-5}, \alpha_1] &= \mathbf{C}[H_1 + 2H_2] = \mathbf{C} \operatorname{diag}[-1, -1, 0, 0, 0, 1, 1], \end{aligned}$$

the quotient space can for d = 1 be taken as  $N_0 = \beta_1 \lambda^n + \sum_{i=n-1}^0 x_i \lambda^i$  where  $x_{n-1} - \alpha_1$  lies in the 11-dimensional span of the vectors

$$H_2, E_1, E_2, E_3, E_4, F_1, F_2, F_3, F_4, F_5, F_6.$$

For d = 5 we have that  $\mathfrak{g}_{\beta_5} = \mathfrak{n}^-$  and the quotient space can be taken as  $N_0 = \beta_5 \lambda^n + \sum_{i=n-1}^0 x_i \lambda^i$ where  $x_{n-1} - \alpha_5$  lies in the span of the vectors  $F_2$  and  $F_6$ .

# References

- [AHH] ADAMS, M.R., HARNAD, J., HURTUBISE, J., Isospectral Hamiltonian flows in finite and infinite dimensions, II. Integration of flows, Comm. Math. Phys., 134 (1990) 555-585
- [AHP] ADAMS, M.R., HARNAD, J., PREVIATO, E., Isospectral Hamiltonian flows in finite and infinite dimensions, I. Generalized Moser systems and moment maps into loop algebras, Comm. Math. Phys., 117 (1988) 451–500
- [AvM1] ADLER, M., VAN MOERBEKE, P., Completely integrable systems, Euclidean Lie algebras, and curves, Adv. Math., 38 (1980) 267–317
- [AvM2] ADLER, M., VAN MOERBEKE, P., Linearization of Hamiltonian systems, Jacobi varieties and representation theory, Adv. Math., 38 (1980) 318-379
  - [Bea] BEAUVILLE, A., Jacobiennes des courbes spectrales et systèmes hamiltoniens complètement intégrables, Acta Math., 164 (1990) 211–235
  - [BC] BURCHNALL, J.L., CHAUNDY, T.W., Commutative ordinary differential operators, Proc. London Math. Soc., 211 (1923) 420–440
- [CMP] CASATI, P., MAGRI, F., PEDRONI, M., Bihamiltonian Manifolds and τ-function, Mathematical Aspects of Classical Field Theory 1991 (M. J. Gotay et al. eds.), Contemporary Mathematics vol. 132, American Mathematical Society, Providence, (1992) 213-234
- [Dam] DAMIANOU, P.A., Master symmetries and R-matrices for the Toda lattice, Lett. Math. Phys., 20 (1990) 101–112
- [DM] DONAGI, R., MARKMAN, E., Spectral covers, algebraically completely integrable systems, and moduli of bundles, Integrable Systems and Quantum Groups, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1620, Springer-Verlag, New York, (1996) 1-119
- [FH] FULTON, W. HARRIS, J., Representation Theory, GTM 129, Springer-Verlag, New York (1991)
- [Fuc] FUCHSSTEINER, B., Mastersymmetries, higher order time-dependent symmetries and conserved densities of nonlinear evolution equations, Progress of Theoretical Physics, 70 (6) (1983) 1508– 1522
- [Gar] GARNIER, R., Sur une classe de systèmes différentiels abéliens déduits de la théorie des équations linéaires, Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo, 43 (1919) 155–191
- [Hum] HUMPHREYS, J.E., Introduction to Lie Algebras and Representation Theory, GTM 9, Springer-Verlag, New York (1980)
- [Kna] KNAPP, A.W., *Lie Groups Beyond an Introduction*, Progress in Mathematics, Birkhäuser (1996)
- [Kos1] KOSTANT, B., The principal three-dimensional subgroup and the Betti numbers of a complex simple Lie group, Am. Jour. Math., 81 (1959) 973-1032
- [Kos2] KOSTANT, B., Lie group representations on polynomial rings, Am. Journ. Math., 85 (1963) 327-404
- [KM] KOSMANN-SCHWARZBACH, Y., MAGRI, F., Poisson-Nijenhuis Structures, Ann. Inst. Poincaré, 53 (1990) 35-81
- [KV] KIMURA, M., VANHAECKE, P., Commuting differential operators and finite-dimensional integrable systems, Preprint

- [LM] LIBERMANN, P., MARLE, C.-M., Symplectic geometry and analytic mechanics, D. Reidel Publishing Company (1987)
- [LP] LI, L., PARMENTIER, S., Non-linear Poisson structures and r-matrices, Comm. Math. Phys., 125 (1989) 545-563
- [Mér] MÉRINDOL, J.-Y., Variétés de Prym d'un revêtement galoisien, J. Reine Angew. Math., 461 (1995) 49-61
- [MM] MAGNANO, G., MAGRI, F., Poisson-Nijenhuis Structures and Sato Hierarchy, Rev. Math. Phys., 3 (1991) 403-466
- [MR] MARSDEN, J. E., RATIU, T., Reduction of Poisson Manifolds, Lett. Math. Phys., 11 (1986) 161–169
- [Mum] MUMFORD, D., Tata lectures on theta II, Birkhäuser (1984)
  - [OR] OEVEL, W., RAGNISCO, O., R-matrices and Higher Poisson brackets for Integrable Systems, Physica A, 161 (1989) 181–220
  - [OV] ONISHCHIK, A.L., VINBERG, E.B., Lie Groups and Lie Algebras III, EMS 41, Springer-Verlag, New York (1994)
  - [Pre] PREVIATO, E., Generalized Weierstrass &-functions and KP flows in affine space, Comment. Math. Helvetici, **292–310** (1987)
- [RS1] REIMANN, A.G., SEMENOV-TIAN-SHANSKY, M.A., Reduction of Hamiltonian systems, affine Lie algebras and Lax equations. I, Invent. Math., 54 (1979) 81–100
- [RS2] REIMANN, A.G., SEMENOV-TIAN-SHANSKY, M.A., Reduction of Hamiltonian systems, affine Lie algebras and Lax equations. II, Invent. Math., 63 (1981) 423–432
- [RS3] REIMANN, A.G., SEMENOV-TIAN-SHANSKY, M.A., Compatible Poisson structures for Lax equations: an r-matrix approach, Phys. Lett. A, 130 (1988) 456–460
- [Ser] SERRE, J-P., Complex Semisimple Lie Algebras, Springer-Verlag, New York (1987)
- [Sch] SCHWARZ, A., On solutions to the string equation, Modern Physics Letters A, 6 (1991) 2713-2725
- [Van1] VANHAECKE, P., Linearising two-dimensional integrable systems and the construction of action-angle variables, Math. Z., 211 (1992) 265–313
- [Van2] VANHAECKE, P., Integrable Hamiltonian systems associated to families of curves and their bi-Hamiltonian structure, Integrable systems and Foliations, C. Albert, R. Brouzet, J.-P. Dufour, eds, Birkhauser, Boston, (1997)
- [Van3] VANHAECKE, P., Integrable systems in the realm of algebraic geometry, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1638, Springer-Verlag, New York (1996)
- [Var] VARADARAJAN, V.S., Lie groups, Lie algebras, and their representations, GTM 102, Springer-Verlag, New York (1984)